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1 
About us – what we do 

Established in April 2013, we are an NHS organisation responsible for commissioning (or 

planning, buying, and ensuring the quality of) healthcare services in Portsmouth including 

hospital care, rehabilitation, urgent and emergency care, and most community health 

services, including mental health and learning disabilities. We commission for a population of 

around 217,500 people using an annual budget of about £296.4 million. Our geographical 

boundaries match those of Portsmouth City Council. 

We are a membership organisation, led by five local GPs elected to represent all the GP 

practices in the city.  

In short, we want people who live in the city to be able to lead longer and healthier lives 

knowing that, when they need help, they can get it quickly and easily with the minimum of 

fuss. Our role is to ensure that, through working with every GP surgery in the city and our 

public, Portsmouth people have access to the best possible NHS services as and when they 

need them. 
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2 
Foreword – a change at the helm 

 

Proud that we are making a difference… 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dr Tim Wilkinson stood down as chair of the CCG on 31st March 2016 

‘It has been a pleasure and a privilege to be Chair of our Governing Board over the last few 

years. I believe we have established and driven the organisation forward and I am proud that 

we have, and continue to, make a difference for the patients and our GP practice 

membership. 

 

Quality has been central to my thinking and finding out what matters to patients and what will 

make a difference. Involving patients and frontline staff has helped us to focus on using our 

resources wisely, reducing waste, and creating financial stability. Supporting colleagues in 

making sound clinical decisions with their patients has proved very rewarding. 

 

Being open and honest, admitting mistakes and acting on feedback has created an 

atmosphere of trust and hard work while continually striving to improve and do what is right 

for patients and our membership.  

 

In my opinion our CCG is now positioned to be sustainable, has a long term purpose, and 

the enthusiasm and commitment to bring about the necessary changes for health services in 

Portsmouth. 

 

My job is therefore done and it is now up to others to take our CCG forward. Thank you to all 

the people I have met and worked with over the years that have helped me in having such 

an enjoyable and rewarding time. I could not have done it without you. Our CCG is great 

right now and should be proud about what has been achieved but must continue to strive to 

be even better. 

 

 

 

‘In my opinion our CCG is now positioned to 

be sustainable, has a long term purpose, 

and the enthusiasm and commitment to 

bring about the necessary changes for 

health services in Portsmouth…’ 
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…and ready to shape services for the better 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dr Elizabeth Fellows became chair of the CCG from 1st April 2016. 

I have worked in Portsmouth most of my career and lived here all of my life. I love this city 

and its people with a passion and am delighted to be able to step up and serve as chair of 

the CCG. 

The opportunity to devote more time to the wider health economy is exciting. I look forward 

to helping reshape the delivery of care to our population enabling us to do more with our 

Portsmouth pound. 

With the changing demands of our people, we need to be looking to deliver services closer 

to home, and foster greater independence to enable people to stay at home happily for 

longer. This is an ambition that I hear time and again from my patients and my ageing 

parents. 

No-one likes being dependant and “in care.” Our Portsmouth Blueprint is a great idea.  We 

now need to work together with our health and local authority colleagues to bring it to life and 

deliver the outcomes we have planned for. We already have a good working relationship 

with the city council and our Integrated Commissioning Unit was ahead of its time. We now 

need to show what we can do together in a bigger way than ever before. 

We also need to be looking to others, as some of the problems we face are more than we 

can fix here in Portsmouth. Planning for some services is needed at bigger populations and 

while we are great here in Portsmouth, we need to access resources elsewhere such as for 

the vascular service, our ambulance service and provision of Out of Hours care. However I 

won’t forget where I come from and will remain a voice for the people of Portsmouth. 

In my new role I hope to meet more of our residents in public meetings and other settings to 

keep the flow of information from the city to the planners live and realistic. I am here as part 

of Team Portsmouth, to influence and shape services for the better, using the information 

available and the feedback from people in our city. 

 

‘With the changing demands of our people, 

we need to be looking to deliver services 

closer to home, and foster greater 

independence to enable people to stay at 

home happily for longer…’ 
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3 
Change, challenge and some encouraging successes 

PERFORMANCE REPORT 

3.1 

Context and overview 
This is our third annual report covering the work that we do in designing, developing and 

ensuring the delivery of health services for people who live within the Portsmouth area.  

 

This has perhaps been our most testing year so far as a commissioning organisation – with 

some notable challenges, not least increasing pressures on us financially, the situation 

locally with urgent care services and some high profile reconfiguration work around the way 

urgent care walk in services in the city operate. But there have also been some encouraging 

successes too. Amongst these are the development of the Portsmouth Blueprint, an initiative 

that builds on the successful partnership work around Better Care and sets out a new vision 

for the city’s health and care services for the future; our very successful summer event Your 

Health, Your NHS in Portsmouth city centre and the development of our primary care 

commissioning role locally which has been increasingly delegated to us by NHS England 

over the past 12 months. 

 

As we continue to work towards implementing our Five Year Strategy (developed with local 

people and partners and in line with the NHS Five Year Forward View) our overall vision 

remains for everyone in Portsmouth to be enabled to live healthy, safe and independent 

lives, with care and support that is integrated around the needs of the individual at the right 

time and in the right setting. We will do things because they matter to local people, we know 

that they work and we know that the changes will make a measurable difference to people’s 

lives. 

 

Primary and community care is at the core of our strategy. We recognise and value the 

contribution made by GPs and all primary care professionals to health and care in 

Portsmouth and understand they are highly valued by people. GPs and pharmacists are the 

main point of contact for the majority of people and their skills are essential for all aspects of 

health care, including health education and health promotion. In April 2015 we took on a 

much more significant role in commissioning local primary care services, delegated to us by 

NHS England. This has a number of advantages, not least that it enables us to commission 

services in a more joined up way across the whole spectrum of NHS provision: primary care, 

community services, acute hospital care, mental health and social care (through our 

integrated commissioning unit that we operate jointly with Portsmouth City Council.) 

 

We want to commission a sustainable health and social care system that achieves a shift in 

focus from hospital care to community and primary care, early intervention, prevention and 

maximizes the contribution of the voluntary, community and independent sector. In order to 

deliver our strategy, improve the quality of services, meet rising demands and costs and 

ensure safe services at all times we will need to achieve around £40m of efficiencies across 
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health and social care by 2019; this figure is likely to rise as national and local spending 

reviews and settlements are confirmed. 

 

The following sections highlight some of the primary areas of focus for us as a CCG over the 

past 12 months (section 3.3) and provide an overview of the way we manage performance in 

the organisation, with a particular focus on actions that we have taken to improve 

performance where we have not met, or have struggled to meet, particular targets (sections 

3.4 – 3.7). The latter stages of this section provide an overview of the work we have done 

over the past year to ensure we meet some of our other key statutory requirements and 

responsibilities including sustainability (3.8), patient involvement (3.9), reducing inequalities 

(3.10), quality (3.11), information governance (3.12) and emergency planning (3.13). 

 

Dr Jim Hogan 

Clinical Leader and Chief Clinical Officer 

25th May 2016 

 

 

3.2 

Working with others to achieve our goals 
Portsmouth’s Health and Wellbeing Board sets the strategic outcomes for the city’s health 

and care. These incorporate the findings from our ongoing Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment (JSNA) and take account of feedback from people in the city, users of our 

services and their representatives as well as national and local evidence. We are an active 

equal partner within the Health and WellBeing Board and this has included ensuring our joint 

health and wellbeing strategy remains current and relevant. We have also worked closely 

with members of the Health and Wellbeing Board in developing the ‘Portsmouth Blueprint’, 

our joint strategic plan for everyone in the city to live healthy, safe and independent lives with 

the right support for individual needs provided in the right place and at the right time 9 see 

section 3.4 What we are doing about establishing new models of care.)  

 

We share the Health and Wellbeing Board’s intent that in five years Portsmouth people will: 

 be able to access effective services to meet their goals to manage their own health and 

stay well and independent; 

 be able to plan ahead and keep control during times of crisis in their health and care; 

 spend less time in hospital and institutional care; 

 access responsive services which help them to maintain their independence; 

 have access to the right information and support about services available; 

 have access to simple, effective services when they have an urgent health, care or 

welfare need; 

 have a strong voice about how services are designed and delivered; 

 feel confident that their care is coordinated and that they only have to tell their story 

once; 

 benefit from the use of technology to help them stay well and independent. 

 

Members  of the Health and Well Being Board are also involved in our CCG business and as 

members of our Governing Board and Primary Care Commissioning Committee which 
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enables us to involve them formally in our planning and reporting procedures including this 

report. 

 

Every year we produce an Operating Plan and this sets out the detailed initiatives and 

actions that are to take place over the next year to ensure the delivery of our five year 

strategy ‘2020 Vision’.  

 

Our plan for 2016/17 is available to view on our website: www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk 

 

In delivering the plan we are committed to working in partnership with local people, 

Portsmouth City Council and other partner organisations such as NHS Fareham and 

Gosport and NHS South Eastern Hampshire CCGs, local NHS Providers, Independent 

Sector Providers, NHS England and the Voluntary Sector.  

 

Health improvement and a reduction in health inequalities cannot be achieved without 

partnership working. Working together is a vital component in the delivery of many of our 

objectives and priorities and the Health and Wellbeing Board provides an overarching 

strategic framework for this.  

 

We also recognise the imperative to maintain quality of care whilst facing up to the financial 

challenges ahead.   

 

This has led us to channel our focus into a small number of priorities that we want to 

progress over the next two years as they will contribute to the overall delivery of our strategy. 

Our priorities are: 

 

 
1 

 
We want everyone to be able to access the right health services, in the 
right place, as and when they need them. 
 

  
 
2 

 
We want to ensure that when people receive health services they are 
treated with compassion, respect and dignity and that health services are 
safe. 
 

  
 
3 

 
We want health and social care services to be joined up so that people 
only have to tell their story once. People should not have unnecessary. 
assessments of their needs, or go to hospital when they can be safely 
cared for at home or stay in hospital longer than they need to. 
 

  
 
4 

 
With our partners, we will tackle the biggest causes of ill health and early 
death and promote wellbeing and positive mental health. 
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We acknowledge that, as we seek to address these priorities, the commissioning system will 

continue to evolve. It will be characterised by continued focus on the strategic goals 

articulated in the NHS Five Year Forward View including better prevention of ill-health, 

empowering patients, engaging diverse communities, and stimulating the development of 

better models of care, supported by innovative use of technology and workforce. We will also 

continue to take on more responsibility for the commissioning of primary care services, whilst 

at the same time looking to explore further integrated models of commissioning, and service 

provision, with Portsmouth City Council and our local NHS provider partners. 

 

In order to succeed, we need to continue to encourage joint working and co-operation. This 

has been demonstrated in the work we have done across our health system to: 

 

 jointly tackle the pressures that we have faced around urgent care services this year;  

 create a blueprint for the future that can only succeed through the participation and 
commitment of all our local partners. 

 

This will enable us to build more effective local care provision around the needs of each 

individual patient, or continue to work with communities on important local developments.  

 

We continue to appreciate, the co-operation of our member practices, our partners and 

stakeholders and the patients, carers and members of the public who have been willing to 

share their views on local services with us. We still have a lot to do, not least in meeting the 

challenges set out in the NHS Five Year Forward View, which steers us towards even 

greater integration and co-operation in future, with some potentially exciting results.  

 

3.3 

Our year – some major programmes we have worked on 
We are always seeking to work with our local NHS service providers and partner 

organisations to find ways in which we can improve services for patients – and your views 

and feedback help us with that process, too. In the past year there have been a number of 

significant pieces of work we have been focusing on and this section of the report provides 

some background to these. 

 

What we are doing about… 

IMPROVING EMERGENCY SERVICES 

One of the biggest areas of local concern over the past year has been the situation facing 

urgent and emergency care services.  

 

A number of factors have contributed to the problems that the local health system has faced 

through the year and whilst nationally there has been a similar picture, the issues have been 

particularly felt in this area, notably in relation to meeting the four hour performance standard 

for A&E waits.  

 

In terms of the position locally we have:  

 

- A complicated system: Urgent and Emergency Care Services in Portsmouth and 

the surrounding area have evolved over time. This has created a variety of services 
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that can seem unrelated, each with different names and access points. This has 

created a complicated system with patients and health professionals finding it 

challenging to navigate around these services efficiently. 

- Increasing demand for some services: We have seen a continued rise in demand 

for urgent and emergency care across the whole area, from increasing attendances 

at Emergency Departments to increased demand on local GPs across the whole day.  

- A population that is growing older with more complex health problems: Growing 

numbers of frail elderly patients, increasing morbidities, more treatable illnesses and 

an increased public expectation of healthcare is an issue in terms of demand for 

urgent care services but also for arranging appropriate care once patients leave 

hospital after an emergency admission. 

 

If care cannot be arranged sufficiently quickly to support hospital discharge the patient has to 

stay in hospital and for every patient this happens to it means one less bed available to 

those who may need to be admitted. 

 

The current issues being experienced with urgent care cannot be solved overnight but they 

are of significant concern. Improvement will need time and requires all those involved in 

providing urgent care services to be involved in finding solutions.  A formal structure is in 

place, called the System Resilience Group (SRG) for Portsmouth and South East 

Hampshire, that brings all organisations together to manage all issues relating to urgent 

care, and ensure the resilience of services locally. The situation is also being monitored 

nationally (CQC visits, NHS England risk summits) as performance figures for A&E waits 

locally are amongst the worst in the country. 

 

The SRG oversees a programme of work, including formal improvement plans that will 

deliver improvements to the urgent care situation locally. This embraces a number of 

initiatives that link in to what happens when patients arrive at Queen Alexandra Hospital and 

how they make their way through the care system, to what happens when they are ready to 

be discharged and how support will be provided to those that need it. Sitting alongside these 

are a range of preventative measures that seek to ensure how patients can best be cared for 

out of hospital in a way that prevents crises in their lives occurring which would then 

necessitate urgent care support. 

 

We also have in place an urgent care strategy that sets out how we want to enhance the 

delivery of urgent care services over the next five years. 

 

In that time we want to see: 

“A simple to navigate, sustainable patient centred, high quality urgent and emergency care 

integrated system providing 24/7 access that ensures patients are seen by the most 

appropriate professional at the right time in the right setting…”  

 

To realise this vision and move to the future system of urgent and emergency care, some of 

the things that need to happen include: 

 

Better support for people to self- care: Supporting people to take control of their own 

health means we can help them access the right support, tools and information to manage 

their health problem, enable them to use services appropriately and resources effectively 
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and change behaviours and perceptions in a way that influences how they choose to use the 

services available. 

Responsive urgent care services – right advice first time: where people feel they need 

to access clinical advice or treatment for an urgent care need we must support them to 

access the right advice or services first time and as close to home as possible. 

Highly responsive urgent care out of hospital services: to avoid people choosing to 

queue in A&E, or being taken to hospital unnecessarily to receive the treatment they need, 

services outside hospital need to be further enhanced, such as the development of primary 

care hubs that bring teams of GPs and other health professionals in a local community 

together working over a longer period of time. 

 

What we are doing about… 

URGENT CARE WALK-IN SERVICES IN PORTSMOUTH 

Over the past year we have been engaging with local people about urgent care walk-in 

services in Portsmouth – the services provided at the Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre and 

at St Mary’s NHS Treatment Centre. We have been developing an urgent care system that 

makes choice simpler for people which may, in turn, help relieve the pressure on A&E 

services at Queen Alexandra Hospital in Cosham. 

 

Following a period of extensive engagement, leading into a formal three month consultation, 

we propose: 

 

 To maintain a GP service in the city centre, and to continue to allow patients to 

‘walk in and wait’ rather than relying on pre-booked appointments. The importance 

of such a service to many people was clear from the consultation. The practice 

will continue at Guildhall Walk until April 2017, while the CCG runs a competitive 

tendering process to award a new contract for GP services. After April 2017, the 

precise location of the practice will depend on the outcome of that tendering 

process, but we will insist that it remains within, or near to, the city centre. Walk in 

services will only be available to those who register at the practice but anyone can 

choose to register there. 

 To strengthen the existing walk-in services at St Mary’s Treatment Centre, 

by deploying GPs to work alongside nursing staff already delivering care. This will 

create a single, major urgent care walk-in centre for the city, which will offer the 

strongest possible alternative to A&E for people who need advice or treatment 

quickly. The GPs and nurses will be able to care for people with both minor 

injuries and minor illnesses, they will have access to diagnostics such as 

ultrasound and x-ray, and they will be able to work hand-in-hand with 999 crews, 

A&E staff, and other specialists at Queen Alexandra Hospital.  

 To extend the current pharmacy-based urgent care services. There is already 

a network of 36 city pharmacies offering a minor ailment service for people 

needing quick help, support or treatment. From 1 July 2016 this extensive service 

will be further strengthened – a wider range of people (including students) will be 

eligible, and a wider range of conditions will be covered. This is a response to the 

feedback we received highlighting the importance of having a city centre location 

where people (particularly those such as students, or overseas visitors, who are 

less likely to have registered with a GP) can get advice and treatment for a wide 
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range of illnesses, without needing to book an appointment to see a doctor. It also 

recognises that many of the people currently using Guildhall Walk as a walk-in 

service have illnesses which could be fully dealt with at a pharmacy. This is a new 

proposal, developed in the light of consultation feedback. 

 

We expect to implement these changes during 2016/2017 and will ensure that patients and 

residents in Portsmouth are kept informed. 

 

What we are doing about… 

ESTABLISHING NEW MODELS OF CARE 

Over the summer of 2015, the organisations responsible for health and social care in 

Portsmouth came together to discuss how services in the city could be made more effective, 

more patient-focused and  more sustainable over the next few years through us working 

more closely together. Out of these discussions came a ‘blueprint document’ that captured 

these thoughts into a strategy and we are all now working on a five year programme to 

improve residents' wellbeing by bringing health and social care services together. 

Organisations involved in this programme are: 

 NHS Portsmouth CCG 

 Portsmouth City Council 

 Solent NHS Trust 

 Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust 

 Portsmouth Primary Care Alliance 

 

Known as the ‘Portsmouth Blueprint’, the vision is for everyone in the city to live healthy, 

safe and independent lives with the right support for individual needs provided in the right 

place and at the right time. This means empowering individuals and communities to maintain 

good health and prevent ill health. It means a shift from hospital care to community care. It 

means a radical improvement in early intervention and prevention. And it means joining up 

the planning, commissioning, delivery and management of services. 

 

The blueprint aims to remove issues caused by working as separate organisations and to 

join up services around the care of individuals. This will include bringing together the 

statutory functions of the different organisations, and creating a single body with delegated 

authority to commission all health and social care services. The result will be joined up 

services delivered by a single (or lead) provider under single-leadership and with staff co-

located, integrated around the care of the person. The blueprint recognises the huge 

contribution made by GPs and other primary and community care providers.  

 

The plan is to increase the care provided in the community, with a clear focus on early 

intervention and prevention, which in turn should reduce the pressure on urgent and 

emergency care. 

 

Prevention and wellbeing services will support people in their neighbourhoods and 

communities. Combined health and care teams will be created based in seven-day a week 

'community hubs' across the city. The hub based teams will offer a broad range of services 
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from primary and secondary care, to social care, wellbeing, mental health, occupational 

therapy, and rehabilitation and reablement. Care will become more local.  

 

A single point of access will be created for health and social care in Portsmouth so 

individuals, and their families and carers, find it easier to get the information and advice they 

need to make choices about the services they use and to manage their own care. By 

considering health and social care together, individuals would only need to tell their story 

once and only need one assessment. 

 

Better prevention and early intervention will enable hospital care to be more focused on 

planned treatment and, where urgent care is needed, choices will be simplified. Social care 

will continue to develop so that people's social care needs are met in the community 

wherever possible. Work to establish multi-agency teams for children and families will 

continue but will be incorporated, in time, into community hubs. 

 

Future models of health and social care will be developed by 'growing our own' workforces, 

so health and social care staff have the skills to support new ways of providing services in 

the future. Making more effective use of buildings will build capacity for community based 

organisations and activities. A single IT system will mean individuals have a single record 

that can be accessed by them, and by those providing their care. We recognise the strength 

in working with existing providers of care to build this model, valuing the experience and 

expertise that exists within those who deliver care currently.  

With this in mind, we will focus our work, in the first instance, on bringing together 

community NHS and primary care (including GP) services to deliver this model of care. We 

will be able to draw on the progress made, and insight gained, from establishing the multi-

organisational Better Care initiative over the past couple of years as we set about delivering 

this challenging, yet vital, strategy.  

 

What we are doing about… 

COMMISSIONING SERVICES IN PRIMARY CARE 

In April 2015 we took on responsibility for the commissioning of a range of primary care 

services, responsibility delegated to us formally by NHS England. The intention behind this is 

to enable CCGs to improve primary care services locally for the benefit of patients and local 

communities. Responsibility for the commissioning of primary care services had resided with 

NHS England since 2013. 

This essentially allows us to have much greater levels of control over factors including:  

 monitoring local GP practices; 

 designing and influencing the additional services GP practices might take on, over 

and above their core responsibilities, linked to national or local priorities; and  

 the ability to establish new practices in the area, approve mergers or changes to 

practice premises or boundaries. 

We believe are a number of local benefits arising from delegation of primary care 

commissioning including:  
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 an opportunity for joined up commissioning, bringing primary care into our integrated 

care strategy with the ability to innovate, challenge and change models;  

 greater opportunity to work with primary care in redesigning and improving services 

locally, including urgent care; 

 the ability to support, encourage and enable faster pace of change within primary 

care;  

 addressing the current separation of commissioning across organisations would lead 

to better understanding for commissioners, providers, their patients and the public. 

We are confident that this addition to our commissioning role will also enable us to make 

progress faster, and more effectively, with programmes such as the Portsmouth Blueprint as 

it enables us to bring the commissioning of a broad range of NHS services together. 

What we are doing about… 

ENCOURAGING PEOPLE TO SHARE THEIR VIEWS WITH US 

We hosted our first major public engagement event in June 2015 at Portsmouth Guildhall 

Square, promoted as ‘Your Health, Your NHS’ and offering people the chance to drop by 

and have their say about their local NHS services. 

 

With valuable support from Healthwatch Portsmouth, we were keen to include as many 

partner and local community organisations as possible in the event. This included statutory, 

voluntary and community organisations – all of which play an enormous part in contributing 

to the overall health and wellbeing of Portsmouth residents.  50 stallholders were 

accommodated with space for vehicles such as ambulances and the Tooth bus. The City’s 

main health providers, Solent NHS Trust, South Central Ambulance Service NHS 

Foundation Trust, Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust and Care UK were represented 

alongside a wider mix of voluntary and community organisations. 

 

Many CCG clinicians and other staff volunteered to help out on the day, all of whom were 

pleased to meet and engage with members of the public and to hear peoples’ view about 

health care services. This was through a range of activities and options that people were 

offered with everything from talking to a local GP, to entering competitions or even making 

their own bicycle powered fruit smoothie! 

 

Feedback from the general public on the day was very positive with requests that it be 

repeated in the future. People were generally happy to talk freely about their experiences. 

Stallholders similarly reported that they found the event useful for both public feedback and 

the networking opportunities that it provided.  

 

We estimate that we had active engagement with over 500 people on the day. This is a 

conservative estimate and certainly many more passed through the square looking at stalls. 

 

People told us they wanted to see improved access to a GP in primary care, which was 

voiced by 28% of those who responded to our main survey. A further 11% also highlighted 

reduced waiting times across the board (A&E, hospial, community and primary care) as the 

one improvement they would like with improved health education and awareness for 

members of the public also considered important. We also received some very useful 
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insights into urgent care provision with people explaining what motivated them about 

whether or not to choose attending A&E over and above any of the other urgent care 

services available.  

 

We are very much aware that this was the first event of this kind that we have organised and 

we will use the learning from this to influence how we plan future events, but we were 

delighted with the public’s response to our first ‘health fayre.’ 

 

You can read more about the event in our Listening to Patients annual engagement report 

on our website.  

 

What we are doing about… 

CREATING NEW DIGITAL SUPPORT SYSTEMS FOR PATIENTS 

We want to ensure that the health services we commission are modern, fit for purpose and 

of high quality. It is therefore critical that we ensure that some of the infrastructure that sits 

behind this, such as the ability for our IT systems to share patient information and work 

together, can keep pace with what we need it to do. The benefits of this are clear, it helps us 

to transform many health and care services bringing benefits to patients, carers and staff 

whilst helping us modernise and move towards a ‘paperless’ NHS. 

 

The three CCGs in the Portsmouth and South East Hampshire area have been driving a 

project that will, eventually, extend across Hampshire, the Isle of Wight and the cities of 

Portsmouth and Southampton to transform the way we manage patient information digitally 

across all local NHS organisations. 

 

There are four main strands to this work supporting the development of systems that:  

1) support clinicians (and patients) to have the right information when and how they need it; 

2) help manage workflow by supporting everyone to work together with standardised 

information to achieve better outcomes;  

3) create alerts and triggers to support monitoring of services and;  

4) improve available information/information gathering at scale to help us improve how we 

monitor population health trends. 

 

The most noticeable aspects of this work to patients will be the ongoing development of 

shareable summary care records and the way in which we support general practices to 

migrate to a single GP clinical system platform and manage the integration and sharing of 

clinical information across general practice, community and mental health. Alongside this the 

development of shared electronic care plans that contain standardised clinical/care content 

will also support the development and commissioning of new and improved patient services. 

 

A partnership of senior leaders across the county has been formed, known as the Care and 

Health Interoperability Partnership (CHIP) Programme, to drive forward this programme of 

integration and information sharing. 

 

In developing information technology to further enable the CCG to work more collaboratively 

with partners, communicate and share information more effectively, provide and analyse 

more accurate data information, and enhance performance and productivity, we will ensure 
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that data protection practices are adequate and information is handled in the correct and 

most appropriate way. 

 

3.4 

Measuring and monitoring our progress and performance 
Our strategic direction remains unchanged from that articulated within the five year strategy 

we developed in 2014. Local people have told us that they want to see an increased focus 

on preventing ill health, helping individuals manage their long-term conditions and 

empowering them to take control of their own health. They would like services provided by 

health, social care and the voluntary sector to be better integrated, working closely with 

education, housing and employment. They are also keen to be involved so their views are 

used to develop local services and improve quality. And they want to tell their health story 

just once, and not repeat it to every clinician they see during their period of care. 

 

As we stated in Section 3.2 we have four strategic objectives to enable delivery of our vision 

and ambitions for local people: 

 The right health services, in the right place, as and when people need them. 

 People receive compassion, respect and dignity from safe health services. 

 People only have to tell their story once and shouldn’t stay in hospital longer than 

they need to. 

 With our partners, we will tackle the biggest causes of ill health and early death and 

promote wellbeing and positive mental health. 

 

For each of these objectives we have key areas of focus for 2016/17 and a number of 

actions that we want to deliver in that timescale that will contribute to us achieving each 

overall objective.  

 

In line with the requirements in the NHS Mandate (NHS England objectives), the nine 

national mandatory planning priorities and the NHS Five Year Forward View; we have 

mapped our local strategic objectives, and thus, our programme of work for 2016/17, to 

these key national items (see table next page.) 

 

We will, of course, seek to further develop and facilitate partnerships and enhanced 

cooperation with, and between, local stakeholders, including service providers, other 

commissioners who commission health and social care services, and other bodies 

throughout this process.
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Mapping our objectives against national requirements 
 

PORTSMOUTH BLUEPRINT 
   

NHS Mandate CCG Objectives National Must Do’s 
To maintain and improve performance 
against core standards. 
 

 We want everyone to be able to access the right health 
services, in the right place, as and when they need them. 

 

 Access standards for A&E and ambulance waits 
Referral to treatment (RTT) 
 

To help create the safest, highest quality 
health and care service. 

 We want to ensure that when people receive health services 
they are treated with compassion, respect and dignity and 
that health services are safe. 

 

Cancer standards and improving one year 
survival rates 
Make improvements in quality and providers 
participate in annual publication of avoidable 
mortality rates 

To improve out of hospital care  We want health and social care services to be joined up so 
that people only have to tell their story once. People should 
not have unnecessary assessments of their needs, or go to 
hospital when they can be safely cared for at home or stay in 
hospital longer than they need to. 

 

Develop a sustainability transformation plan to 
deliver the Five Year Forward View 
Address sustainability and quality of general 
practice 
New mental health access standards and 
dementia diagnosis 
Transform care for people with learning 
disabilities 

Through better commissioning, improve 
local and national health outcomes, 
particularly by addressing poor outcomes 
and inequalities. 
To lead a step change in the NHS in 
preventing ill health and supporting 
people to live healthier lives. 

 With our partners, we will tackle the biggest causes of ill 
health and early death and promote wellbeing and positive 
mental health. 

 

New mental health access standards and 
dementia diagnosis 
Cancer standards and improving one year 
survival rates 
 
 

CCG KEY ENABLERS 

 To balance the NHS budget and improve 
efficiency and productivity 

CCG Financial Strategy Ensure financial balance 

To support research, innovation and 
growth 

CCG Innovation Strategy 
CCG Digital Transformation Programme 

 

   

FIVE YEAR FORWARD VIEW 
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We recognise that, working alongside our Public Health colleagues, there needs to be a 

drive on prevention to address the requirements within the Five Year Forward View. The 

three main risk factors for premature mortality are smoking, obesity and alcohol. We are 

working with the City Council on plans to help encourage healthier lifestyles. 

The role of the voluntary and community sector is also crucial in helping us provide 

appropriate care to people and we want to continue to work closely with, and engage 

voluntary organisations in delivering new and innovative care approaches.  

We monitor our performance using a broad range of measures in order to provide as 

complete a view as possible of how we are delivering on behalf of our population. 

Performance and progress is monitored against delivery of the: 

 CCG strategy – progress to date against 5 year strategic plan; 

 Key gateways to transformational change – progress against delivery of key projects 

 Expected change in outcomes – the impact of the above transformational change on 
the associated outcomes; 

 Ensuring high quality, safe services are being commissioned; 

 Delivery of NHS constitution and mandate – ensuring the CCG rights and pledges 
are delivered; 

 Engagement/Relationships – demonstrating whether the CCG is having continued 
engagement with members and stakeholders and partners to enable delivery; and 
perception of the CCG. 

Performance and progress against the above is captured through the CCG Integrated 

Performance Report (IPR) that is taken and reported to the Governing Board as well as the 

monthly Clinical Executive Committee. In parallel, our performance and planning tool, 

Covalent, provides a live dashboard of our performance in real time. 

Doing all of this therefore provides us with: 

 Progress against the delivery of our strategic vision and plans.  

 Overall performance that helps define an effective commissioner. 

 

In addition performance discussions with Provider organisations occur through: 

 Board to Board meetings 

 Chair and Chief Officer meetings on specific delivery failure points 

 ‘Hot Topic’ meetings and briefings 

Throughout the year we keep a close scrutiny on delivery of the NHS constitution standards 

as well as progress against the CCG assurance framework.  Covalent and other intelligence 

tools are used to provide us with an early warning system to address issues that may impact 

on future performance.  Trend data is analysed and reviewed and used as a starting point for 

conversations with provider colleagues to understand and address any areas of concern 

before they become a problem. 
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3.5 

How we performed this year 
Much has been positive in terms of performance throughout 2015/16, and this has 

contributed to delivering high and improved standards of care to the local population, 

including: 
 92% of patients receiving their treatment in less than 18 weeks from initial referral; 

 Mental health access standards have been achieved; 

 99% of patients requiring diagnostic tests have been seen within six weeks; 

 Positive cancer performance across all eight standards with the exception of a slight 

underperformance with regards to the 62 day first definitive treatment standard; 

 Excellent seven day follow-up rates for those with a Care Programme Approach 

(CPA); 

 Early identification of quality and safety concerns; 

 Extended primary care opening hours. 

 

There have been a number of challenging areas throughout year which have regularly been 

discussed at by the Governing Board at our meetings in public and set out in our integrated 

performance report. These principally relate to: 

 A&E four hour waits; 

 Consistent and sustainable delivery of Cancer and Referral To Treatment (RTT) at 

specialty and tumour site level; 

 Ambulance targets; 

 Out of hours/NHS111. 

 

More information about the action being taken to improve performance is set out in section 

3.6 below, and performance issues have been addressed through a number of different 

means: 

 Contractual levers have been used to address all of the challenging areas; 

 Contract Performance Notices have been issued for each area with Remedial Action 

Plans being agreed; 

 The delivery of A&E has been escalated to a number of Risk Summits; 

 Monies have been withheld for RTT and Cancer and a ‘Failure to agree notice’ 

issued for A&E; 

 The CCG has strengthened delivery capacity by bringing in additional senior 

management support to tackle the issues arising; 

 Pan-Hampshire and Isle of Wight collaborative delivery models are being explored; 

 Obtaining leverage through the agreed accountability framework and the System 

Resilience Group (SRG); 

 Quality monitoring has been enhanced. 
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Performance 
activity – key 
measures 
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Friends and family test (Percentage recommended) 

 

 A&E Inpatient 
Maternity - 

Antenatal Care 
Maternity - Birth 

Maternity - 
Postnatal Ward 

Maternity - 
Postnatal 

Community 

 Value Value Value Value Value Value 

NHS England 
Average 

84% 96% 95% 96% 94% 98% 

Frimley Health 88% 97% 98% 98% 94% 99% 

Hampshire 
Hospitals 

80% 83% No Activity 96% 98% No Activity 

Portsmouth 
Hospitals 

95% 96% 96% 99% 97% 98% 

Royal Surrey 
County Hospital 

80% 94% 93% 100% 96% 99% 

University Hospital 
Southampton 

94% 97% 96% 96% 95% 94% 

Western Sussex 
Hospitals 

90% 76% 96% 98% 0% No Activity 

 

 Mental Health Community 

 Value Value 

Solent NHS Trust 94% 96% 

Southern Health NHS Foundation Trust 78% 95% 

NHS England 87% 95% 
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Better Care Fund performance  

 
Indicator BASELINE 2013-14 Last Update Current Target Current Value RAG status 

NON-ELECTIVE ADMISSIONS: Total non-elective 
admissions into hospital (general and acute) all age per 
100,000 of population (Portsmouth) 

2,238 Q3 2015/16 2,281 2,254.7 
 

RESIDENTIAL ADMISSIONS: Permanent admissions of 
older people to residential and nursing care (Portsmouth) 
(per 100,000 population age 65 and over) 

747.9 2015/16 718.6 681.8 
 

REABLEMENT: Proportion of older people (65 and over) 
who were still at home 91 days after discharge form 
hospital into reablement and rehabilitation services 
(Portsmouth) 

81.8% 2015/16 85.3% 89% 
 

DELAYED TRANSFER OF CARE: Delayed transfer of 
care from hospital per 100,000 population (Portsmouth) 

251 Q3 2015/16 332.5 622 
 

PATIENT/SERVICE USER EXPERIENCE METRIC 
(Portsmouth) 

Not yet determined Not yet determined 
Not yet 

determined 

Not yet 
determined 

Not yet determined 

 

 Local metric 

Indicator BASELINE 2013-14 Last Update Current Target Current Value RAG status 

LOCAL METRIC: The proportion of adult social care 
users that have as much social contact as they like 
(Portsmouth) 

0% 2014/15 47% 44.3% 
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3.6 

Performance issues and actions being taken 

A&E 4 hour waits 

Delivery of the A&E four hour wait standard remains challenging and the target has not been 

met this year.  The Emergency Care Improvement Programme that underpins delivery of the 

Urgent Care Improvement Plan is managed and monitored through the System Resilience 

Group.  All organisations are held to account against delivery of their actions which in turn 

will address improvement towards overall target delivery and sustainability. 

Cancer 

Working with Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust we have developed a joint Cancer 

Improvement Plan which states that the cancer standards will be achieved and sustained 

from September 2016. Cancer improvement meetings are being held monthly, ensuring that 

actions from the plan are being delivered as agreed. 

Referral to Treatment (RTT) 

The aggregate incomplete RTT target continues to be achieved, although there continue to 

be failures at specialty level mainly within Urology, Colorectal, Hepatology and 

Gastroenterology.  Internal speciality level recovery plans are being actioned within 

Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust, with external progress updates against delivery of these 

plans provided at contract review and the scheduled access assurance meetings. 

Ambulance response times 
The CCG is measured by the performance across the entire South Central region for all 

emergency ambulance response times delivered by South Central Ambulance Service 

(SCAS). For the highest priority calls (Red 1) response times have not been met.  The target 

level for 8 minutes responses throughout the year although Improvement was shown from 

November (71.8%) to December (74.3%).  

 

For the second category of calls (Red 2) response times also improved in December, with 

the monthly target being achieved (for the first time since May 2015). The overall target for 

all Red categorised calls to be responded to in 19 minutes (Red 19) was also achieved.  

 

It should be noted that in Portsmouth due to our City geography we get a better performance 

against these targets then the overall South Central performance outlined above.   

 
3.7 

How we manage contract performance 
We have a number of processes and approaches in place to help us manage contract 

performance and these include: 
 Encouraging providers to take the onus on suggesting solutions; 

 Using contractual process to challenge providers  with contractual mechanisms and 

levers used as and when required; 

 Strengthening senior leadership capacity for delivery; 

 Collaborative approach to enabling delivery of constitutional standards; 

 System Resilience Group oversight and accountability of delivery of A&E, Cancer 

and RTT standards; 

 Attendance at Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust operational scheduled access 

assurance meeting (SAAM); 



24 
 

 Accountability at contract review meetings (monthly), and Executive contract review 

meetings (quarterly); 

 Attendance at Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust internal operational cancer and RTT 

improvement meetings; 

 

3.8 

Ensuring we develop in a sustainable way 
We are committed to improving working conditions, tackling climate change and protecting 

the environment. 

 

Sustainability has become increasingly important as the impact of people’s lifestyles and 

business choices are changing the world in which we live. The Climate Change Act 2008 

sets a legally binding framework to reduce carbon emissions, mitigate and adapt to climate 

change. The latest carbon reduction targets became law in June 2011 and require the 

reduction of carbon emissions by 34% by 2020 from a 1990 baseline, 50% by 2025 and 80% 

by 2050.  

 

The NHS Sustainable Development Unit (SDU) has estimated that as at 2004, the NHS in 

England was responsible for 25% of England’s public sector emissions and 2.6% of total UK 

emissions. As such, the NHS has a significant role to play in carbon reduction. 

 

As a CCG, we believe we can support sustainable development in the local area by focusing 

on three areas: 

 in our commissioning of health care services – ensuring we support environmental 

and social sustainability in our processes and approaches; 

 as an organisation – taking actions to be a responsible organisation in respect of 

environmental and social sustainability; 

 in our relationship with our member practices – to promote sustainable development 

across all our member practices. 

  
More broadly we continue to work with our local partners to support sustainable approaches 

as part of the city and the local health and social care system. 

  
We will support our local authority partner, Portsmouth City Council to improve working 

conditions, tackle climate change, and protect the environment. We work as a member of the 

Health and Wellbeing board and in partnership with our local Public Health colleagues in 

taking forward this approach within the city. 

In acknowledging our responsibility towards creating a sustainable future, we will help 

achieve that goal by running awareness campaigns that promote the benefits of 

sustainability to our staff. Climate change brings new challenges to our business both in 

direct effects to the healthcare estate, but also to patient health. Examples of recent years 

include the effects of heat waves, and extreme temperatures such as prolonged periods of 

cold. We recognise the need to plan appropriately for these eventualities and to ensure 

resources are in place when they are needed and risks have been suitably assessed and 

managed.  
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We developed a Sustainable Development Management Plan (SDMP) as part of our 

authorisation process and this has now been reviewed and updated. Through this plan and 

our partnership work we will contribute to the delivery of Portsmouth’s Climate Change 

Strategy and its four key priorities of: 

 Reduce Portsmouth’s carbon footprint; 

 Adapt to climate change; 

 Community involvement; 
 Energy strategy for the city. 

 

Whilst a small organisation we still have a responsibility to ensure we behave in a 

responsible, ethical and sustainable manner. As a part of the NHS, public health and social 

care system, it is our duty to contribute towards the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing 

the carbon footprint of the NHS, public health and social care system by 34% (from a 1990 

baseline) equivalent to a 28% reduction from a 2013 baseline by 2020.  

We do not own any property and our lease for our headquarters and associated costs for 

energy, water and waste usage is now managed by Portsmouth City Council as our landlord 

(following our move in February 2016).  

It has not been possible to gain all of the information in relation to our energy spend for 

2015/16 and we will continue to work with the Council to gain further understanding of our 

energy use during 2016/17. This will enable us to deliver a more comprehensive 

performance report detailing usage of these resources and produce a carbon emissions 

profile on the basis of this which will help provide us with a more effective measurement of 

our contribution towards the target.  

We have, however, worked with Portsmouth City Council to establish our carbon footprint for 

our new headquarters accommodation and this shows that in 2015/16 it was 93.8 tonnes of 

carbon per year (relating to heat and light) which represents a 9% decrease from our 

previous accommodation. We anticipate this will reduce further by 9% in 2016/17 due to 

planned improvements in electricity usage. 
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Consumption in CO

2
 tonnes 

 

We have worked with the City Council to introduce as many sustainable devices and 

approaches as possible in our new accommodation. This includes improved waste and 

recycling facilities, as well as the main Civic Offices building and our part within it benefiting 

from improvement projects including: 

 Building Management System upgrades including additional field devices, sensors, 

maintenance on equipment, anti-dry cycling strategy to boilers, heat recovery and 

improved monitoring; 

 New boilers; 

 New chillers; 

 Reduced occupancy times on light sensors. 
 

In planning for our move to the Civic Offices we also focused on: 

 undertaking an access survey as part of our accommodation review looking at 

options for our new headquarters; 

 promoting sustainable transport options to encourage staff to use public transport or 

to walk or cycle – no staff have car parking provided for them on site; 

 how we could reduce the amount of paper that we use and printing that we 

undertake, including reviewing our use of technology and more effective printing 

arrangements; 

 working with staff to harness their ideas about sustainable working which included 

greater use of our intranet. 
 

3.9 

Acting on the views of our patients 
We have a duty under the Health and Social Care Act 2012 (section 14Z2) to involve 

patients and members of the public in the planning, development and delivery of services 

that we commission. We produce an annual engagement report that shows how we have 

met this requirement and sets out the activities we have undertaken during the year in 
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seeking people’s views and feedback on local health services. We are committed to 

continuing our dialogue with local people and sharing how we have listened to their 

feedback to improve local services. 

The report supports the recommendations set out in Transforming Participation in Health 

and Care – ‘The NHS belongs to us all’, in letting local people know how we have gathered 

their views and taken them into account in our commissioning decisions. This not only 

applies to formal consultations on service changes, but to any activity where patients or the 

public are asked for their views on particular proposals or issues before a decision is made. 

 

To do this we have developed clear communications routes from the Patient Participation 

Groups run by each GP practice, through to the CCG’s Governing Board.  

 

Most of our member practices have a Patient Participation Group which patients from the 

practice are able to join and share their views on both their practice and wider health 

services. Each Patient Participation Group is invited to be a member of our PPG network 

and we hold regularly quarterly meetings between the CCG and the network with an agenda 

set by PPG members. The meetings are chaired by our lay member for patient engagement 

who is then able to take feedback from the meetings directly back to the Governing Board.  

 

Over the course of the past year discussions with our network included a range of different 

topics, notably: the local Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA), urgent care services, 

our role as commissioner of primary care and GP services and the Portsmouth blueprint 

document. 

 

This has also been a busy year for us in terms of seeking the views of our patients and 

residents about local services.  

We have done this informally, running a very successful Your Health Your NHS event in 

Portsmouth Guildhall Square in June 2015 where people were able to drop by and talk about 

what was important to them in terms of NHS care (see section 3.3). 

We have also carried out some extensive engagement with local patients who have long 

term conditions and the groups that support them, to find out what they think about how 

services to them are currently provided and what, specifically, they would like to see change 

that would enable them to better manage their conditions. 

Then, more formally, we undertook a full, formal consultation exercise on the future of 

services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre. This followed a significant piece of 

engagement work with people locally about urgent care service provision across the city. 

You can read more about this consultation, and the outcome in section 3.3. 

Alongside this we have regularly sought people’s views on other services and you can read 

more about this in our annual engagement report, ‘Listening to our patients’, which is 

available on our website. 
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3.10 

Reducing inequality and our commitment to equality and diversity 
Equality and diversity is central to our work in ensuring equality of access to, and treatment 

by, the services that we commission on behalf of the population of Portsmouth. 

 

Our commitment to equality and diversity is driven by the principles of the NHS Constitution, 

the Equality Act 2010 and the Human Rights Act 1998, and also the duties of the Health and 

Social Care Act 2012 (section 14T) to reduce health inequalities, promote patient 

involvement and involve and consult with the public.  

 

We work closely with Portsmouth City Council in executing our responsibilities for equality 

and diversity and also through the Portsmouth Health and Wellbeing Board in the work it 

undertakes in agreeing local needs assessment and developing the strategy to address 

those needs. 

 

We have used the NHS Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2) to develop and prepare our 

equality objectives which are: 

 

 Improve access for people with sensory loss. This is being taken forward as a 

project, led by the Quality Team and working with providers of healthcare from which 

the CCG commissions services as well as patients and the public and their 

representative groups experiencing sensory loss. 

 Seek out ways of engaging and establishing working relationships with diverse 

groups and communities to ensure the voice of protected groups is heard by and 

informs the work of the CCG. 

 Improve staff awareness and responsiveness to the needs of protected groups. This 

objective, first set in 2013/14 is extended to particular areas of work, including in 

ensuring equality impact analyses are adequately completed and submitted as 

required.  

 

Public sector equality duty: EDS2 helps us meet the requirements of the Public Sector 

Equality Duty which is set out in the Equality Act 2010. These are to:  

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other conducted 

prohibited by the (Equality) Act; 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 

characteristic and those who do not; 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 

those who do not.  

 

To support the work of EDS2, we have also completed the NHS Workforce Race Equality 

Standard (WRES) which became mandatory in April 2015.   

 

Equality analysis: We have made progress in embedding equality analyses in our decision-

making processes and on policies and procedures. We have provided training for staff and 

those who have attended training are cascading that training within their teams. We have 

also completed equality analysis of Human Resource Policies. 
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Equality and Diversity Annual Report: We publish a separate annual report to over our 

work and responsibilities in relation to equality and diversity issues and this is available to 

view on our website. In addition to the items set out above, two other important 

considerations for us over the past year have been: 

 

Improving access for people with sensory impairment or loss: Feedback from 

engagement with local people who are deaf/deaf and/or visually impaired or blind reflects 

national findings on barriers faced by people with sensory impairment or loss. Our ongoing 

work to improve things includes: 

 Working with General Practice Managers on what “good” access looks like, setting 

out good practice found in Portsmouth by local people.  

 Review our CCG  website and make improvements to improve access to information  

 Sharing feedback received from people with sensory impairment or loss regarding 

the importance of accessing information via websites with NHS commissioned 

service providers. It is expected providers will begin to address these issues as part 

of the Accessible Information Standard implementation  

We also continue to seek ways of engaging and establishing working relationships with 

diverse groups and communities to ensure the voice of protected groups is heard and 

informs the work we do.  

During 2015 we have developed our relationships with Healthwatch Portsmouth, Action 

Portsmouth and Portsmouth voluntary and community service networks to engage diverse 

groups and communities in our work. Some examples of how we have done this include: 

 Our Your Health, Your NHS event in June 2015;  

 Development of a Better Care Stakeholder Reference Group to inform development 

of integrated health and social care;  

 Engagement on the relocation of Guildhall Walk Treatment Centre, through focus 

groups led by Healthwatch Portsmouth. Diverse groups engaged were: jobseekers 

on the Work Programme, families involved in Learning Links Families Moving 

Forward Programme, Portsmouth Disability Forum, Portsmouth Race Equality 

Network, the African Women’s Forum, homeless people via the Salvation Army, and 

Portsmouth Substance Misusers Recovery Programme (PUSH); 

We want to continue to develop our working relationships with Healthwatch Portsmouth and 

voluntary and community sector partners to engage with diverse communities. This will 

include identifying opportunities to host a second engagement event in 2016 and have a 

profile at other organised events in the city. 

3.11 

How we look to improve service quality 
We have a responsibility under the Health and Social Care Act 2012 (Section 14R) to secure 

continuous improvement in the quality of services provided to individuals for or in connection 

with the prevention, diagnosis or treatment of illness. 

 

 We have adopted these guiding principles in our approach to quality; 
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 We will listen to our patients, their families and friends and hear what they are telling 

us;  

 We will act quickly when we know that something is not right;  

 We will be honest if things go wrong;  

 We will strive for continuous improvement & learning;  

 We will not rely on tick boxes to assure ourselves of quality. 

 

In November 2015 our revised Quality Strategic Framework was approved by the CCG’s 

Governing Board. This document outlines our approach to quality and safety and helps us to 

ensure the importance of quality and safety is evident in our commissioning processes, so 

that the health needs of our population are appropriately met. It also ensures we have 

effective internal systems and processes in place to provide assurance that we are able to 

discharge our responsibilities, whilst providing a framework for the development and 

monitoring of contractual quality requirements with providers. 

 

Clinical Quality Review Meetings (CQRM) are established with the main providers. These 

meetings monitor the quality elements of the providers’ contracts, including patient safety, 

patient and carer experience and clinical effectiveness and facilitate open and constructive 

dialogue between providers and the CCG on all aspects of quality. Unresolved issues and 

concerns are escalated through the contractual route and our internal governance 

processes.  

 

We undertake an annual programme of quality assurance visits which help support the 

validation and assurance of key performance indicators included in the quality schedule of 

provider contracts and build stronger working relationships allowing for active dialogue about 

quality which develops a culture where concerns can be raised without fear of reprisals. 

 

We also operate a range of quality improvement schemes in primary care, community 

services and the hospital using the CQUIN (Commissioning for Quality and Innovation) 

payment framework and other approaches. CQUIN enables us as commissioners to reward 

excellence, by linking a proportion of healthcare providers' income to the achievement of 

local quality improvement goals. 

 

We see the role of GP Member Practices as paramount to providing real time feedback from 

both themselves and patients on their experiences of commissioned services and pathways. 

We use all feedback sources: patient experience, complaints and the Friends & Family test 

to build a picture of quality and our Listening to Our Patients annual report provides evidence 

to the Governing Board on how we have acted on this feedback to improve commissioned 

services and patient experience. And, alongside Fareham & Gosport and South Eastern 

Hampshire CCGs, we are utilising QUASAR, a quality management database, to capture a 

comprehensive range of data and feedback to build a picture of the quality and safety of 

services and early identification of themes. 

 

Quality risk issues are monitored through our integrated performance reporting process 

which is reported to our Governing Board at every meeting. 
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3.12 

How we look after your information securely 
We are continually seeking to ensure that the way we use, store and transfer information is 

as secure as possible. We have a robust Information Governance Framework for managing 

Information Governance (IG) within the CCG. NHS South, Central and West Commissioning 

Support Unit (CSU) provide our Information Governance specialist support. 
  

We have completed and submitted an assessment for Version 13 of the Information 

Governance Toolkit and have evidence to demonstrate assurance to the level required 

throughout the NHS.  The toolkit is a requirement of Department of Health policy that the 

Health and Social Care Information Centre (HSCIC) is commissioned to develop and 

maintain. It draws together the legal rules and central guidance and presents them in in a 

single standard as a set of information governance requirements.  

 

We have a number of policies and procedures in place to guide staff in their handling of 

information, including those relating to: 

  

 Information Governance; 

 Safe data handling; 

 Records management; 

 Data subject access requests; 

 Information security; 

 Confidentiality 

 Incident reporting. 

  
We have also formally adopted a number of additional policies provided and approved by the 

CSU Information Technology Service relating to the security of the IT network and IT assets 

such as computers and mobile devices.  There are also a number of guidance documents 

and procedures in place to assist staff in how they use IT, how to keep IT safe from external 

threats and also to ensure that staff only have access to the information they need to carry 

out their job role. 

  

We use our internal communications approaches to inform all staff about the policies, the 

importance of adhering to them and their broader Information Governance responsibilities.  

 

There is also an IG structure which identifies the roles of the Senior Information Risk Owner 

(SIRO) and the Caldicott Guardian.  They are supported by other staff within the CCG who 

monitor and report on how information is managed within the Law and if there are any risks 

to that information.  All of these staff receive additional training to help them.   

 

All staff are issued with an IG Handbook, which they are required to sign confirming they 

have read and understood their obligations to follow the IG policies and what could happen if 

they don’t. They are also required to complete annual IG training and all new staff receive a 

one to one induction from the CSU IG specialist when they start.    

  

In response to the Department of Health’s requirements under its Information Governance 

Assurance Programme, NHS organisations must include details of serious incidents 
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involving data loss or a confidentiality breach in their annual reports.  These are classified in 

accordance with our IG Investigation Reporting Procedure which is aligned with the HSCIC 

Serious Incident Requiring Investigation (SIRI) process. 

  

The incident reporting process enables us to analyse each incident, any particular trends 

and make adjustments to the way we work to minimise risk of future occurrence.  It also 

ensures that if there is an incident that needs reporting to external organisations, the details 

of the incident and the investigation can be reported to the HSCIC and the Information 

Commissioner‘s Office for review.  All reported information governance/data security 

incidents are considered by the CCG’s Caldicott Guardian and SIRO.     

 

There have been no IG Incidents assessed as requiring reporting to the HSCIC or the 

Information Commissioner’s Office for 2015/16. 

 
3.13 

Being prepared to respond in an emergency 
We need to be able to plan for, and respond to, a wide range of incidents that could impact 

on health or patient care. These could be anything from prolonged period of severe pressure 

on services, extreme weather conditions, an outbreak of an infectious disease, a major 

transport accident or industrial action.  

 

We share Emergency Preparedness Resilience and Response (EPRR) responsibilities 

across three CCGs (Fareham and Gosport, South Eastern Hampshire and ourselves).  

 

Amongst the responsibilities we must fulfil collectively are: 

 working with the Hampshire & Isle of Wight Local Health Resilience Partnership; 

 participating in training and testing exercises which are used to test response plans; 

 assisting with the local co-ordination of emergencies in partnership with the NHS 

England Wessex; 

 ensuring a 24 hour a day, seven day a week on-call system; 

 Ensuring compliance with the national core standards for EPRR for both CCG 

and NHS funded healthcare providers. 

 

The CCGs and local NHS provider organisations completed a self-assessment of their 

compliance with the NHS EPRR core standards. The CCGs worked with the local NHS 

Trusts and the NHS England Wessex as part of this assurance process. 

 

NHS England (Wessex) represents the NHS at Hampshire and Isle of Wight Local 

Resilience Forum (LRF) meetings. 

 

We certify that the CCGs have a joint incident response plan in place, which is fully 

compliant with the NHS Commissioning Board Emergency Preparedness Framework 2013. 

The CCGs regularly review and make improvements to their major incident plan and have a 

programme for testing this plan, the results of which are reported to the Governing Bod 
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3.14 

Managing health and safety 
The responsibility for Health and Safety within the CCG is delegated to the Chief Operating 

Officer.  We have a Health and Safety Policy, but there were no incidents reported during the 

course of the year. 

 

3.15 

Reducing the risk of fraud 
We work closely with the Local Counter Fraud Team in proactively promoting good 

governance in respect of risks and fraud, learning lessons from elsewhere and having a 

clear policy and processes in place for managing concerns about possible fraudulent 

actions. This is overseen by the CCG’s Audit Committee. Our Governance Statement 

(section 4.12) provides more information about how we ensure the right controls are in place 

within the organisation to manage risk. 

 

3.16 

Better payment, prompt payment 
The Better Payment Practice Code (BPPC) requires CCGs to aim to pay all valid invoices by 

the due date, or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice.  For Non-NHS invoices, we paid 

99.91% of the number of invoices in line with the BPPC (94.23% of the value), and for NHS 

invoices, we paid 99.46% of the number of invoices in line with the BPPC (96.73% of the 

value). 

 

3.17 

Being open and accountable 
We have in place policies for handling complaints and claims management (principles for 

remedy) that adhere to the six principles of good practice outlined in the HM Treasury 

Guidance on Managing Public Money (October 2007) as well as Health Services 

Parliamentary Ombudsman guidance on ‘Principles of Remedy’ (2010). These are: 

 

 getting it right; 

 being customer focused; 

 being open and accountable; 

 acting fairly and proportionately; 

 putting things right; 

 seeking continuous improvement. 

 

This ensures that effective and timely investigations and response can be instigated for any 

claim, including allegations of negligence, public liability or personal injury and also works to 

reduce the occurrence of incidents and events, which may give rise to future claims. 
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4 
Corporate governance – working to the highest standards 

ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT 

This section of the annual report is divided into three main sections 

Section A: Members’ report 

Section B: Governance statement 

Section C: Remuneration report 

 

SECTION A: MEMBERS’ REPORT 
This section contains information about our membership, the way we work as a CCG and 

some of our legal responsibilities. 

 

4.1  

The way we operate 
The CCG is the clinically led commissioning organisation for Portsmouth City, working to 

boundaries coterminous with Portsmouth City Council, and with a registered population of 

around 217,000. We were authorised in December 2012 and started our first full year of 

operation on April 2013 fully authorised, without conditions.  

 

Governing Board 

The CCG is owned by its 21 member GP practices and is run on their behalf by a Governing 

Body (known locally as the Governing Board). We are strongly clinically led by a team of five 

elected GPs, with a Clinical Leader Dr Jim Hogan, who is also the substantively appointed 

Accountable Officer, and a Clinical Chair, Dr Tim Wilkinson. Dr Tim Wilkinson stood down 

from his role with the CCG at the end of March 2016 and Dr Elizabeth Fellows took on this 

role from 1 April 2016. 

 

The Governing Board has had the following composition during the year: 

 

 Clinical Leader and Accountable Officer (Chief Clinical Officer); 

 Chair of the Governing Board (also a clinical executive); 

 Three other Clinical Executives as representatives of member practices (excluding 
Chair and Clinical Leader); 

 Practice Manager representative of member practices; 

 Three lay members ; 

 One registered nurse; 

 One secondary care specialist doctor; 

 Chief Finance Officer; 

 Chief Operating Officer. 
 

In addition in attendance, as non-voting members are: 
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 Chief Executive, Portsmouth City Council; 

 Director of Public Health, Portsmouth City Council. 
 

Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee membership during the year has been: 

 

 Tom Morton, lay member (and Audit Committee Chair up to February 2016); 

 Jackie Powell, lay member; 

 Andy Silvester, lay member (and Audit Committee Chair from February 2016); 

 Dr Julie Cullen, Registered Nurse; 

 Dr Elizabeth Fellows, Clinical Executive. 
 

With effect from 1 April 2016 Dr Elizabeth Fellows stood down from the Audit Committee and 

she has been replaced by Dr Dapo Alalade, Clinical Executive.  

 

Remuneration Committee 

The Remuneration Committee membership during the year has been: 

 

 Andy Silvester, lay member (and Chair of the Remuneration Committee); 

 Tom Morton, lay member;  

 Jackie Powell, lay member; 

 Dr Tahwinder Upile, secondary care doctor on the Governing Board; 

 Dr Tim Wilkinson, Clinical Executive and Chair of the Governing Bo\rd. 
 

With the departure of Dr Tim Wilkinson from the CCG, Dr Elizabeth Fellows has joined as a 

member of the Remuneration Committee from 1 April 2016.  

 

The Governing Board also has a Clinical Strategy Committee and with effect from 1 

February 2016 a Primary Care Commissioning Committee reporting to it.  

 

Further details about our Governing Board and Senior Managers, including membership of, 

and attendance at, committees can be found in our Governance Statement (section 4.11) 

along with information on the purpose of each committee.  
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4.2  

Our membership 
During 2015/16 we had 21 member practices. The table below shows our membership 

position as at 31st March 2016. 

 

Member (Contract) Provider & Provider Address Providing services at: 

Derby Road Group 
Practice 

Derby Road Group Practice 
27-29 Derby Road, North End, PO2 8HP 

Derby Road 
Copnor Road  

Sunnyside Medical 
Centre 

Dr A R Tollast & Partners  
Pompey Centre, Fratton Way, PO4 8TA 

Sunnyside Medical 
Centre 

Ramillies Dr Caiger & Partners 
12 Victoria Road South PO5 2BZ 

Ramillies, - Victoria 
Road South 

Baffins Surgery Dr D C Rogers & Partners  
St Cuthbert’s Church, Hayling Ave, PO3 6BH 

Baffins Surgery 

Dr Atchison & 
Partners 

Dr D G Atchison & Dr F Negro 
8 Queens Road PO2 7NX 

Queens Road Surgery 

John Pounds Medical 
centre 

Dr JPR Hogan 
Lake Road Health Centre, Nutfield Place PO1 4JT 

John Pounds Surgery 

Lake Road Practice Dr JPR Hogan 
Lake Road Health Centre, Nutfield Place PO1 4JT 

Lake Road Health 
Centre 

The Osborne Practice Dr Price & Partners  
25 Osborne Road PO5 3ND 

Osborne Road 
Eastney Health Centre  

The Drayton Surgery Dr R J Gill & Partners 
280 Havant Road PO6 1PA 

Drayton Surgery 
Wootton Street 

Southsea Medical 
Centre 

Dr Tutte & Partners 
Southsea Medical Centre, Carlisle Road PO5 1AT 

Southsea Medical 
Centre 

The University 
Surgery 

Drs Lawson & Alalade  
The Nuffield Centre PO1 2BH 

University Surgery 

Hanway Medical 
Practice 

Hanway Medical Practice 
2 Hanway Road PO1 4ND 

2 Hanway Road 
81 Stubbington Avenue 

Kirklands Surgery Kirklands Surgery 
111 Copnor Road PO3 5AF 

111 Copnor Road 

Milton Park Practice Milton Park Practice 
131 Goldsmith Avenue PO4 8QZ 

Milton Park Surgery 
Campbell Road 

North Harbour Medical 
Group 

North Harbour Medical Group 
Cosham Health Centre, Vectis Way, PO6 3AW 

Cosham Health Centre 

Northern Road 
Surgery 

Northern Road Surgery 
56 Northern Road, Cosham, PO6 3DS 

Northern Road Surgery 

Portsdown Group 
Practice 

Portsdown Group Practice 
Crookhorn Lane PO7 5XP 

Cosham Park House 
Crookhorn Lane 
Heyward Road 
Kingston Crescent 
Paulsgrove 
Somerstown Hub 

Guildhall Walk 
Healthcare Centre  

Portsmouth Health 
27 Guildhall Walk PO1 2DD  

Guildhall Walk 
Healthcare Centre 

The Devonshire 
Practice 

The Devonshire Practice 
262 Devonshire Avenue PO4 9EH 

262 Devonshire Avenue 

The Eastney Practice  The Eastney Practice 
Eastney Health Centre, Highland Road PO4 9HU 

Eastney Health Centre 

Craneswater Group 
Practice 

Waverley Road Surgery 
34-36 Waverley Road, PO5 2PW 

Salisbury Road Surgery 
Waverley Road Surgery 
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4.3  

Members’ report statements and disclosures 
Statement as to disclosure to auditors  

Each individual who is a member of the Governing Board at the time the Members’ Report is 

approved confirms: 

 so far as the member is aware, that there is no relevant audit information of which the 
CCG’s  external auditor is unaware; and  

 that the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a member 
in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish 
that the CCG’s auditor is aware of that information.  

 

Relevant Disclosures  

We are not aware of any relevant disclosures to make in respect of: 

 political or charitable donations made by the CCG; 

 any important events taken place since the end of the financial year affecting us; 

 significant likely future developments not previously reported; 

 significant research or development activities; 

 branches existing outside the UK. 
 
Pension liabilities  
We are an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme. The 

scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General 

Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England 

and Wales. The scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme; further 

details can be found in the accounting policy note in the Financial Statements and the 

Remuneration Report. 

 

External audit  

The CCG’s External Auditor is Ernst & Young LLP.  In 2015/16 the audit fees were £46,350 

plus VAT, which is in line with the Public Sector Audit Appointments’ (PSAA)  published 

scale fees for CCGs. 

  

The scope of work undertaken by Ernst & Young within this fee, is to audit the 2015/16 

financial statements, to provide an opinion on whether the financial statements give a true 

and fair view of the income and expenditure for the year and to provide an opinion on the 

regularity of expenditure and income.  Additionally, the auditors are required to report to the 

CCG by exception if they conclude that the CCG has not put in place proper arrangements 

to secure value for money in the use of our resources.  As part of the audit, they also review 

and report to the National Audit Office (NAO), to the extent and in the form required by them, 

on the CCG’s Whole of Government Accounts return. 

 

No non audit services were carried out on behalf of the CCG by the External Auditor. 

 
Cost allocation/setting of charges for information 
We certify that the CCG has complied with HM Treasury’s guidance on cost allocation and 
the setting of charges for information. 
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Register of interests  
We maintain a register of interest which sets out any declared potential interests and 

conflicts of directors and members of the CCG involved in the decision making of the CCG 

via the Governing Board and its committees. This register of interest is consider by the 

Governing Board in public on a regular basis and can be found on our website 

(www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk) within the Governing Board papers. 

 

4.4  

Recognising our legal duties 
We have in place arrangements to discharge our legislative statutory duties and these are 

set out in our Constitution. We have used the controls and processes outlined in our annual 

Governance statement to support our endeavours to meet our statutory and regulatory 

requirements.  

 

In respect of discharging our duty to ‘act with a view to securing continuous improvement to 

the quality of services’ (Health and Social Care Act 2012 section 14R) we have developed a 

Quality strategy, with a designated clinical executive lead in this area. A Quality and 

Safeguarding Executive Group, led by the Registered Nurse on our Governing Board, exists 

to support the CCG in focusing on this important area. There is more information about our 

approach to Quality in section 3.11 of this report. 

 

Our duty to ‘have regard to the need to reduce health inequalities’ (Health and Social Care 

Act section 14T) has been met in a number of ways including: 

 

 having the Director of Public Health, Portsmouth City Council co-opted on to the 

Governing Board and leading on health inequalities for us; 

 working as a key partner in the Health and Well Being Board to set and deliver 

priorities in our Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy informed by our Joint Strategic 

Needs Assessment in partnership with the Local Authority; 

 adopting the Equality Delivery System as part of our approach to Equality and 

Diversity to support our work to tackle health inequalities experienced by specific 

groups; 

 incorporating plans to improve health inequalities, in our commissioning strategy 

demonstrated for example by our work on men’s health in partnership with our 

stakeholders. 

 
There is more information contained in section 3.10 of this report. 
 

Public involvement, in particular the planning and development of proposals to change 

services through our commissioning arrangements, is an important part of our work, and is a 

legal requirement under the Health and Social Care Act 2012 (14Z2). 

 

We have a five year Communications and Engagement Strategy in place that links to our 

five year strategy and sets out our approach and the principles which drive us in respect of 

engagement. We plan to review this strategy during 2016/17 to ensure it still aligns with our 

strategic priorities. 
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Our Chair of the Governing Board has the responsibility to ensure there are adequate 

arrangements in place. We use a range of mechanisms to seek public involvement in our 

work including: 

 website, social media, email; 

 contributing regularly to partners’ newsletters and working with the media; 

 a city wide Patient Participation Group network to input into the work of the CCG as 
well as opportunities to regularly meet with the Governing Board; 

 our Healthy Discussions network; 

 work with diverse communities (see section 3.10); 

 large scale engagement events such as our Your Health Your NHS event held in 
June 2015 with another event planned for the summer of 2016; 

 specific engagement and consultation work with patients, carers, and the public on 
individual care pathway review and specific service redesigns and changes (see 
page 

 

More information about our public and patient involvement work can be found in section 3.9. 

 

I, as Accountable Officer, certify that the CCG has complied with the statutory duties laid 

down in the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).  

 

Dr Jim Hogan 

Clinical Leader and Chief Clinical Officer 

25th May 2016 
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4.5  

Statement of accountable officer’s responsibilities 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each CCG shall have an 

Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board 

(NHS England).  NHS England has appointed the Clinical Leader and Chief Clinical Officer 

to be the Accountable Officer of the CCG. 

 

The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, including responsibilities for the propriety and 

regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable, for keeping 

proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 

position of the CCG and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the 

requirements of the Accounts Direction) and for safeguarding the CCG’s assets (and hence 

for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities), 

are set out in the CCG Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

 

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each 

CCG to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the form and on the basis set 

out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis 

and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the CCG and of its net 

expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the 

requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health and in 

particular to: 

 

 observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant 
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a 
consistent basis; 

 make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 

 state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Manual for Accounts 
issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and explain 
any material departures in the financial statements; and, 

 prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 
 

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set 

out in my CCG Accountable Officer Appointment Letter, and that there is no relevant audit 

information of which the CCG’s auditors are unaware.  I have taken all steps to make myself 

aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCGs auditors are aware of 

that information. 

 

I confirm that the annual report and accounts as a whole are fair, balanced and 

understandable and that I take personal responsibility for the annual report and accounts 

and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable. 

 

Dr Jim Hogan 

Clinical Leader and Chief Clinical Officer 

25th May 2016 
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SECTION B: GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
Items 4.6 to 4.17 form the Governance Statement by the Chief Clinical Officer as the 

Accountable Officer of NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group 

4.6  

Introduction and context 
The CCG was licenced from 1 April 2013 under provisions enacted in the Health and Social 

Care Act 2012, which amended the National Health Service Act 2006. As at 1 April 2015, the 

CCG was licensed without conditions. 

The CCG operated in shadow form prior to 1 April 2013, to allow for the completion of the 

licencing process and the establishment of function, systems and processes prior to the 

CCG taking on its full powers. The CCG was authorised in December 2012 and commenced 

operation as a statutory body from 1 April 2013.  

4.7  

Scope of responsibility 
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal 

control that supports the achievement of the CCG’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst 

safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally responsible, in 

accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public Money. I also 

acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in my CCG Accountable Officer Appointment 

Letter. 

I am responsible for ensuring that the CCG is administered prudently and economically and 

that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding financial propriety and 

regularity. 

4.8  

Compliance with UK Corporate Governance Code 
We are not required to comply with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code 

however it is considered good practice.  Therefore we have considered those aspects of the 

Code we consider relevant to the CCG and best practice and can report for the financial year 

ended 31 March 2016, and up to the date of signing this statement, we have operated within 

the provisions set out in the Code, and applied the principles of the Code except as follows: 

Effectiveness: Whilst the majority of Governing Body members are submitted for re-election 

or re-selection this does not apply to the Chief Clinical Officer, Chief Operating Officer or 

Chief Finance Officer who are substantive employees 

Remuneration: The CCG does not have in place remuneration arrangements which links 

rewards to corporate and individual performance. 
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4.9  

The Clinical Commissioning Group Governance Framework 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), at paragraph 14L(2)(b) states: 

‘The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate 

arrangements for ensuring that it complies with such generally accepted principles of good 

governance as are relevant to it.’ 

The CCG’s Constitution sets out the arrangements made to meet its responsibilities for 

commissioning care for the people for whom it is responsible. It sets out the governing 

principles, rules and procedures that are in place to ensure probity and accountability in the 

day to day running of the CCG. The Constitution was developed in line with the national 

model, agreed with its member practices and approved by NHS England in December 2012. 

The Constitution has since been regularly reviewed and updated in conjunction with member 

practices and with approval by NHS England. The latest iteration of our Constitution was 

approved by NHS England on the 12th February 2015. 

 

Member practices oversee the work of the CCG through the Practice Members Forum which 

provides a mandate for the Governing Body to conduct CCG business and duties on behalf 

of its members. The Constitution also sets out the membership and purpose of the 

Governing Body and its committees and sub-committees. Terms of reference are in place 

and kept under review for each of the Governing Body’s committees and sub committees. 

Each Governing Body, committee and sub-committee meeting has formal minutes which set 

out both the attendance of members and the coverage of their work. Through this structure 

the CCG has for example: 

 

 agreed its commissioning strategies, financial strategies and supporting operating 

plans; 

 ensured the CCG has met its statutory duties in respect of such requirements of 

equality and diversity, information governance and working in partnership with the 

Local Authority via the Health and Well Being Board; 

 put in place and monitored effectiveness of the CCG’s policies and procedures; 

 Developed plans for services review and transformation and overseen their 

implementation and evaluation. 
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4.10  

Summary of the Coverage of the Work of the CCG Governing Body and 
Committees 
 
Governing Body 

The Governing Body has delegated authority from its members to undertake the full range of functions required 
of a CCG, with reporting back annually via the practice members forum. It has a focus on corporate and financial 
governance, risk management as well as setting vision and strategy and approving commissioning plans prepared 
for it. It also ensures the CCG meets its legal and statutory requirements. The constitution sets out the following 
functions:  

 ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently 
and economically and in accordance with the CCGs principles of good governance (its main function); 

 ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise any functions formally delegated to 
it by NHS England under section 13Z of the 2012 Act as set out in agreed delegation agreements 

 determining the remuneration, fees and other allowances payable to employees or other persons providing 
services to the CCG and the allowances payable under any pension scheme it may establish under paragraph 
11(4) of Schedule 1A of the 2006 Act, inserted by Schedule 2 of the 2012 Act; 

 approving any functions of the CCG that are specified in regulations; 

 leading the setting of vision and strategy 

 approving commissioning plans including the production of annual plan 

 monitoring performance against plans and producing an annual report 

 ensuring that expenditure and use of resources do not exceed the limits set 

 providing assurance of strategic risk 

 producing an annual report 

 oversight of declaration and registration of interests and management of conflicts of interest 

 working with NHS England to improve the quality of primary medical services, particularly to take account of 
need and unexpressed demand 

 Working with NHS England to improve the quality of specialist services 

 Working with the Local Authority on health promotion, prevention and protection matters and as part of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board 

 

Audit Committee Remuneration Committee 

The audit committee supports the governing body 
discharge its functions related to overseeing 
efficiency, effectiveness, economy and governance. 
The committee reviews the establishment and 
maintenance of an effective system of integrated 
governance, risk management and internal control, 
across the whole of the CCG’s activities that support 
the achievement of the CCG’s objectives.  
 
This includes providing the governing body with an 
independent and objective view of the CCG’s financial 
systems, financial information and compliance with 
laws, regulations and directions governing the CCG in 
so far as they relate to finance. 
 

The remuneration committee makes 
recommendations to the governing body on 
determinations about the remuneration, fees and 
other allowances for employees and for people who 
provide services to the CCG and on determinations 
about allowances under any pension scheme that the 
CCG may establish as an alternative to the NHS 
pension scheme. 

Clinical Strategy Committee  Primary Care Commissioning Committee 

The Clinical Strategy Committee undertakes the 
following roles:  

 drives service transformation and design making 
recommendations to the Governing Board 

The Primary Care Commissioning Committee is 
accountable to the Governing Body and is the corporate 
decision-making body for the management of the CCGs 
delegated primary care commissioning responsibilities 
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 Considers options for future service delivery and 
commissioning strategies 

 Oversight of patient, public, stakeholder and 
member practice engagement in the development 
of commissioning ideas & strategies 

 Management of prospective procurements and 
approval within delegated limits 

 oversees the planning and prioritisation process,  

 oversees development of solutions to needs and 
delivery,  including the CCG’s QIPP requirements, 

promotes a culture of continuous improvement and 
innovation, with respect to safety of services clinical 
effectiveness and patient experience 

and the exercise of delegated powers from NHS 
England. This includes the following: 

 GMS, PMS and APMS contracts (including the design 
of PMS and APMS contracts, monitoring of contracts, 
taking contractual action such as issuing 
branch/remedial notices, and removing a contract); 

 Newly designed enhanced services (“Local Enhanced 
Services” and “Directed Enhanced Services”); 

 Design of local incentive schemes as an alternative to 
the Quality Outcomes Framework (QOF); 

 Decision making on whether to establish new GP 
practices in an area; 

 Approving practice mergers;  

 Making decisions on ‘discretionary’ payment 

  

The Governing Body reviews its effectiveness, in partnership with its Membership Body, 

during the course of the year as set out within its Organisational Development Strategy and 

Plans and through its programmes of audit and scrutiny. In addition, internal audits have 

been undertaken to seek further assurance regarding the CCG’s arrangements for the 

discharge of its statutory duties and to ensure it is legally compliant.  

 

The Governing Body has kept under review its performance and effectiveness during the 

year involving members, stakeholders and the public through a range of mechanism 

including surveys and face to face contact. It has conducted a review of effectiveness during 

the year and the governing body was satisfied with its effectiveness, making some changes 

to its governance framework as a consequence. It has also commissioned an external 

review of its governance arrangements to inform its future arrangements.  
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4.11  

Attendance at meetings 2015/16 
The table that follows shows participation and attendance for the year at the CCG’s Governing Body, Clinical Strategy Committee, Primary 

Care Commissioning Committee (with effect from March 2016), Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee. 

 

Key to committee membership: 

GB Governing Board   AC Audit Committee     RC Remuneration Committee 

CSC Clinical Strategy Committee   PCCC Primary Care Commissioning Committee  NV Non-Voting member 

 

Key to attendance:  

P Present  A Apologies  D  Deputy 

Name Role Dates Committee 
membership 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

                

Dr Jim Hogan Clinical Leader and Chief 
Clinical Officer 

All year GB  P  P  P  P  P  P 

PCCC (NV)            P 

CSC (Chair) A P A P P P P  P P P P 

                

Dr Tim Wilkinson Clinical Executive and 
Chair of Governing Board 

All year GB (Chair)  P  P  P  P  P  P 

PCCC (NV)            P 

CSC P A P A P P P  P P A P 

RC             

                

Dr Dapo Alalade Clinical Executive All year GB  P  P  P  A  P  P 

PCCC (NV)            P 

CSC P P P P A A P  P P P P 

                

Dr Linda Collie Clinical Executive All year GB  P  P  A  P  P  P 

PCCC            P 

CSC P P P P P P P  P P P P 

                

Paul Cox Practice Manager 
Representative 

All year GB  P  P  P  P  P  P 

PCCC (NV)            P 

                

Dr Julie Cullen Registered Nurse All year GB  P  P  A  P  P  P 

PCCC            P 
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Name Role Dates Committee 
membership 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

AC  A    P   P   P 

                

Carly Darwin Practice manager 
representative 

All year CSC P P P P A P P  P P P P 

                

Dr Elizabeth Fellows Clinical Executive All year GB  A  P  A  P  P  P 

AC  P    P   P   P 

PCCC (NV)            P 

CSC P A P A P P P  A P P P 

                

Patrick Fowler Healthwatch 
Representative 

All year PCCC (NV)            P 

                

Katie Hovenden Director of Primary Care All year PCCC            P 

                

Dr Janet Maxwell Director of Public Health 
representative 

All year GB (NV)  P  P  P  P  P  P 

PCCC (NV)            P 

                

Tom Morton Lay member  All year GB  P  P  P  P  A  P 

AC (Chair – 1/16)  P    P   P   P 

RC    P       P  

PCCC (Chair)            P 

                

Jackie Powell Lay member  All year GB  P  P  P  P  P  P 

AC  P    P   P   P 

RC    P      P   

PCCC            P 

                

Dr Jon Price Clinical Lead All year CSC P P P A P P P  A P P P 

                

Innes Richens Chief Operating Officer All year GB  P  P  P  P  A*  P 

PCCC            P 

CSC P P P P P P A  P P P P 

                

Suzannah Rosenberg Director of Quality & 
Commissioning 

All year PCCC (NV)            P 
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Name Role Dates Committee 
membership 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

Tracy Sanders Chief Strategic Officer All year PCCC            P 

                

Andy Silvester Lay member 
 

All year GB  P  P  P  P  P  P 

PCCC            P 

AC (Chair 2/16 -)  P    P   P   P 

RC (Chair)    P      P   

                

Michelle Spandley 
 

Chief Finance Officer All year GB  P  P  P  P  P  P 

PCCC            P 

CSC P P P A P P P  P P A P 

                

Dr Tahwinder Upile Secondary Care Doctor All year GB  P  P  P  A  P  A 

PCCC            A 

RC    P      P   

                

Dr Kevin Vernon Clinical Lead All year CSC P P A P A P A  A P P P 

                

David Williams Local Authority 
Representative 

All year GB (NV)  A  P  P  P  A  A 

 PCCC (NV)            P 

 * Deputy for Innes Richens was Suzannah Rosenberg 
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4.12  

The Clinical Commissioning Risk Management Framework 
The CCG has outlined its approach to risk and has a supporting risk management 

framework.  The approach to risk recognises that living with, and understanding, risk is an 

everyday part of our commissioning responsibilities. Risk is an inevitable part of managing 

healthcare but it must be managed in such a way that the consequences of commissioning 

decisions can be properly understood before they are made. The CCG’s approach is to 

develop a balanced and proportionate approach to risk management which is substantively 

robust whilst not unnecessarily bureaucratic – balancing the CCG’s obligations to exercise 

safely, efficiently and economically, with its duties to drive improvements in services, 

promote innovation, and reduce inequalities. Our risk management framework sets out our 

risk appetite which is driven by the values and behaviors agreed by the Governing Body with 

our members. From the Governing Body, through our committees and onwards to our staff 

we have clearly understood protocols for the reporting and management of risk.  

 

The responsibilities of the Governing Body and its committees and sub-committees are 

clearly defined. The roles of key personnel are also clearly described including the role of the 

CCG’s Risk Management Lead. Risks are identified through two key mechanisms: 

 Governing Board Assurance Framework (GBAF) which assesses and manages 

strategic risks; 

 The CCG Risk Register generated bottom up by our staff to capture operational, 

quality, clinical, financial and business risks faced by the CCG at any given time.  

 

The GBAF is reviewed through a defined quarterly process and team level risks are 

reviewed through a monthly process. In respect of data security the CCG manages these 

through its approach to information governance as set out in it information governance 

framework and supporting policies.  

 

Risk management is recognised as being everybody’s business and is embedded in all its 

activities. Equality impact assessments are incorporated into all relevant plans and policies. 

Consultation and engagement is undertaken with staff, subject matter experts and 

stakeholders in the development of individual’s aspects of the CCG’s work. Incident 

reporting in relation to both the CCG as a statutory organisation and employer as well as a 

commissioner of services is encouraged from staff and other stakeholders in line with the 

CCG policies and approach to risk. 

 

Our approach to risk recognises that in order to commission healthcare successfully we 

need to work with many stakeholders and as part of this we explain our approach to risk, 

keep them informed of our risk position and seek their input in to our plans and risk 

management actions. This is most visible through the Governing Body’s regular review and 

ratification of the GBAF. The CCG’s partnership arrangements consider risks jointly and 

these are reflected as appropriate in the CCG’s own risk management processes. 

 

The control mechanisms contained within our Risk Management Framework were chosen as 

the best to support our approach to risk and our values, whilst meeting our responsibilities 

with regards risk management and were informed by external legal and risk management 

expertise and advice.  
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The CCG’s approach to risk focuses on prevention of risk, deterrent of risks and the 

management of identified risks. As part of commissioning strategy development a proactive 

risk assessment approach is taken, horizon scanning possible threat and how these may be 

avoided or mitigated. The CCG works closely with the Local Counter Fraud Team in 

proactively promoting good governance in respect of risks and fraud, learning lessons from 

elsewhere and having a clear policy and processes in place for managing concerns about 

possible fraudulent actions. This is overseen by the CCG’s Audit Committee.  

 

4.13  

Risk assessment 

There is an on-going well defined process to assessing risk. Risks are assessed as part of 

the development of any individual plan, work programme or business case and are a 

requirement of our planning and performance approach and integrated into our planning and 

performance system (Covalent).  

 

The Governing Body sets the CCGs strategic objectives. The Clinical Executive then 

identifies on its behalf the strategic risks related to delivering these and incorporates these 

into the GBAF. Teams are required to review and update their team risk registers on a 

regular basis which are then reviewed through the CCG’s committee structures and included 

within the strategic risks where felt appropriate. On a quarterly basis the Clinical Executive 

makes recommendations to the Audit Committee regarding updates to the GBAF reflecting 

on work undertaken in any quarter which would impact the existing GBAF and considering 

any high risks identified through the Risk Register process. The Audit Committee considers 

these recommendations and approves a revised GBAF which it in turn reports to the 

Governing Body, in public, for its consideration and ratification.  

 

At the commencement of the financial year the CCG has identified eleven strategic risks on 

its GBAF. For each risk the GBAF sets out the key controls, the sources of assurance and 

actions planned for mitigation: 
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Area Initial Risk (Apr 15) Final Risk (Mar 16) 

Collaborative 
working 

Non-alignment of the NHS England 
(Wessex) and CCG commissioning 
strategies lead to fragmentation of 
services 

This strategic risk was removed from the 
GBAF during the year. 

Engagement Failure of member practices to engage 
across the full spectrum of the local 
health agenda 

This strategic risk was removed from the 
GBAF during the year. 

Estates Lack of coherent and aligned plans for 
utilization of estates impacts on quality, 
patient experience and use of resources 

If plans for the utilisation of Estates 
across commissioners and providers in 
the system is not aligned or coherent, 
then this would impact on the quality of 
service. Patient experience and use of 
resources 

Information 
Technology 

Lack of coherent IT solutions that 
support the integrated care agenda 

If we do not achieve coherent and 
interoperable IT solutions then we will 
not have effectively joined up health and 
social care services 

Local health 
economy 

Failure of Portsmouth / South East 
Hampshire Integrated Care Agenda 

This strategic risk was removed from the 
GBAF during the year. 

NHS 
Constitution 

failure to meet the rights and pledges 
under the NHS Constitution results in a 
detrimental impact on patient services 
and experience 

If the CCG does not meet the rights and 
pledges under the NHS Constitution then 
this may result in a detrimental impact on 
patient services and experience – in the 
following three areas: 

 ED 4 hour wait  

 Cancer 

 RTT  

Transformation 
(provider 
relationships) 

Failure to achieve cultural change in 
providers necessary to achieve CCG 
commissioning intentions. 

If providers do not achieve required 
cultural changes and service reform then 
the implementation of the Portsmouth 
Blueprint may be compromised. 

QIPP Identification and delivery of QIPP for 
2015/16 – insufficient QIPP identified 

This strategic risk was removed from the 
GBAF during the year. 

Quality Urgent care system capacity pressures 
could result in sub optimal care 
including: poor clinical outcomes, harm 
and patient safety risks, loss of privacy 
and dignity and poor patient and carer 
experiences. 

This strategic risk was removed from the 
GBAF during the year.  

Resources Financial sustainability of key partners 
impacts on service delivery and 
outcomes for patients 

If Local Authority budget cuts impact the 
healthcare system then system 
pressures and the delivery of the 
Portsmouth Blueprint could be 
compromised.  

Safeguarding A serious case review (adults) has been 
commissioned identifying poor care 
across multiple agencies including 
primary care, community care and social 
care. This care is likely to identify 
significant quality issues to patient care 
and could impact on the reputation of 
organisations. 

This strategic risk was removed from the 
GBAF during the year. 

 

During the course of the year the Governing Board of the CCG has reviewed the wording of 

many of its strategic risks which are reflected in the table above. Six strategic risks were 

removed from the GBAF as highlighted in the above table.  
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In addition we added two new strategic risks to our GBAF: 

 Quality – Solent NHS Trust: If recruitment and retention to community nursing 
vacancies does not improve then the quality of patient care delivered maybe 
compromised 

 Quality – PHL – GP Out Of Hours: Failure to meet assessment and home visit 
timeframe targets has resulted in poor timed care and negative patient experience. If 
this continues or further deteriorates then this may result in harm to patients 

 

As well as adding and removing one strategic risk during the year: 

 Delegated Commissioning of Primary Care – If there is not a robust agreement 
between the CCG and the Area Team regarding the handover of responsibilities then 
we may not have the capacity and capability to manage the functions without 
adversely affecting engagement with member practices, delivery of primary care and 
CCG reputation.  

 

All strategic risks have been rescored and changes made to descriptions of actions, 

including further sources of assurance and identified further actions needed for improvement 

as appropriate throughout the year through the regular review process as set out in the 

CCGs Risk Management Framework.   

 

The CCG’s ability to comply with its licence and actions taken to identify any principal risks 

identified to compliance are included as part of the CCG’s GBAF and risk management 

processes. Effectiveness and performance is overseen by the Governing Body and through 

its committees and sub committees as well as via the Clinical Executive. Review of 

effectiveness of the CCG’s operating model and organisational structures are overseen by 

the Governing Body and development needs identified are included within its organisational 

development strategy and underpinning plans. 

 

4.14  

The Clinical Commissioning Group Internal Control Framework 
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the CCG to 

ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives.  It is designed to identify and prioritise the 

risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be 

realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 

The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than 

eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 

effectiveness. 

The Audit Committee has oversight on behalf of the Governing Body of the internal control 

mechanisms of the CCG. The Clinical Executive oversees the management and delivery of 

the internal control mechanisms.  The Audit Committee bases its assessments, and 

therefore assurance, on the effectiveness of the controls of the CCG upon: 

 Assurance provided by the Governing Body and committees work programmes; 

 A review of the CCGs policies and procedures and; 

 With assurance from internal audit, external audit and other identified sources of 

assurance. 
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4.15  

Information governance 
Our information governance framework supported by a range of policies set out how we 

manage and mitigate risks to data security. These policies were reviewed and updated 

during the year by the Clinical Executive.  

 

The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which 

the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal 

identifiable information.  The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an 

information governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to 

the CCG, other organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt with 

legally, securely, efficiently and effectively. 

Information Governance is embedded across the CCG, supported by clear policies and 

procedures. We have ensured all staff undertake annual information governance training 

and have implemented a staff information governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of 

their information governance roles and responsibilities. There are processes in place for 

incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents. Information risk assessment and 

management procedures are integrated into our overall approach to risk. More information is 

contained in section 3.11. 

 

4.16  

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources 
The CCG’s Constitution sets out how the CCG will act effectively, efficiently and 

economically. It describes how responsibility for this is delegated to the Governing Body and 

the Audit Committee with advice from the Chief Finance Officer and through the use of value 

for money reviews, benchmarking, audit assurance processes and other tools ensuring the 

best use of resources. The Constitution also sets out how the CCG meets its general 

financial duties. The CCG’s supporting Prime Financial Policies set out the controls in place 

for managing the CCG’s use of resources to ensure good corporate governance, internal 

control and management of risks.  

 

4.17  

Review of the effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management and Internal 

Control  
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 

internal control within the CCG. 

Capacity to Handle Risk  

The CCG’s Risk Management framework sets out the roles of key personnel including the 

role of the Chief Operating Officer to ensure that a GBAF is presented to the Audit 

Committee, the Director of Quality and Commissioning as the CCG’s Risk Management 

Lead, and the CCG’s leadership and management teams.  

 

Staff receive training and support as part of induction, through ongoing staff activities and 

communications (including staff bulletins, specific training events and the staff handbook), e-

learning and the development and promotion of the CCG’s policies and procedures to 
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understand and manage risk and to feel supported in reporting risks of any kind. Specific risk 

management training has been provided to relevant staff during the year along with training 

in the utilisation of the CCGs Covalent system which is used to manage risks as alongside 

planning and performance functions of the CCG.  

 

Review of Effectiveness 

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the 

internal auditors and the executive managers and clinical leads within the CCG who have 

responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework. I have 

drawn on performance information available to me. My review is also informed by comments 

made by the external auditors in their management letter and other reports. 

 

The Governing Body Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence that the 

effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the CCG achieving its principles objectives 

have been reviewed. 

 

I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the 

system of internal control by the Governing Body, the Audit Committee and Clinical 

Executive and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the 

system is in place. 

 

The CCG has in place processes for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of its 

systems of internal control. The Governing Body oversees this and directs the work 

programmes of its committees, sub committees and officers. The Audit Committee has 

specific responsibilities regarding oversight and evaluations working with internal and 

external audit to provide it with assurance and to ensure actions are taken in response to 

any areas of limited assurance.  

 

The Internal Audit work programme is informed based on a risk assessment of the key 

functions of the CCG, and a review of any outstanding audit recommendations carried 

forward from the previous year. 

 

The CCG previously commissioned some support functions from South, Central and West 

CSU, including contracting, business intelligence, information technology, financial services, 

HR and procurement.  It was therefore necessary for the CCG to be assured in the form of a 

Type II Service Auditor Report which is intended to demonstrate that suitable controls are in 

place over the services provided, and operating effectively.  The CCG has received a Type II 

Service Auditor Report for contracting which is now the only service commissioned from the 

CSU which is covered by this report.   

 

The provision of HR transferred to Portsmouth City Council from the 1st April 2015, and is 

now subject to assurance through the CCGs Internal Auditors (substantial assurance 

received in the recent audit undertaken).  The management of the Financial Services team 

was taken over by the CCG from 1st April 2015, with the staff (two) formally transferred under 

TUPE on 20th July 2015.  Financial Services was therefore also subject to audit by the CCGs 

Internal Auditors (substantial assurance received in the recent audit undertaken).  The 

procurement service is now commissioned directly from South of England Procurement 
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Services (from 1st April 2015), so is subject to independent audit through its host 

organisation, Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust. 

 

The CCG also has service level agreements in place with NHS Shared Business Services 

for the provision of the ledger, and transactional based, back office accounting services such 

as payroll and invoice processing, and NHS Business Services Authority for prescriptions 

pricing services.  These are national agreements, and the CCGs external auditors are able 

to obtain central assurances from the National Audit Office in the form of a Type II Service 

Auditor Report (SAR) to provide assurance on the services provided and effective operation 

of controls. 

 

Head of Internal Audit Opinion 

Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the CCG, the Head 

of Internal Audit of TIAA, issued an independent and objective opinion on the adequacy and 

effectiveness of the CCGs system of risk management, governance and internal control. 

The Head of Internal Audit Opinion on the Effectiveness of the System of Internal 

Control for the Year Ended 31 March 2016 

The purpose of my annual HoIA Opinion is to contribute to the assurances available to the 

Accountable Officer and the Governing Board which underpin the Governing Board’s own 

assessment of the effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control. This Opinion 

will in turn assist the Governing Board in the completion of its Annual Governance 

Statement. 

My opinion is set out as follows: 

1. Overall opinion; 

2. Basis for the opinion; and 

3. Commentary. 

My overall opinion is that 

o Reasonable assurance can be given that there is a generally sound system of 

internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are 

generally being applied consistently. However, some weakness in the design and/or 

inconsistent application of controls, put the achievement of particular objectives at 

risk. 

The basis for forming my opinion is as follows: 

1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance 

Framework and supporting processes; and 

2. An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk-based audit 

assignments, contained within internal audit risk-based plans that have been 

reported throughout the year. This assessment has taken account of the relative 

materiality of these areas and management’s progress in respect of addressing 

control weaknesses. 

Additional areas of work that may support the opinion will be determined locally but are 

not required for Department of Health purposes e.g. any reliance that is being placed 

upon Third Party Assurances. 
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During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports which identified governance, 

risk management and/or control issues which were significant to the organisation: 

 The Information Governance Toolkit audit was finalised during March 2016 and 

received ‘Limited Assurance’.  All audit actions were completed as part of the 

Information Governance Toolkit submission.  The Audit Committee received the 

internal audit report, and had oversight of the Information Governance Toolkit 

submission and were satisfied that all recommendations had been implemented. 

Data Quality 

The CCG’s Commissioning Support Provider (NHS South CSU) provides the CCG with its 

data on which the CCGs conducts its business. This data is regularly reviewed by the 

Governing Body and its committees and data is adapted to meet their needs. The Governing 

Body finds the data acceptable. The CCG in partnership with the CSU has quality control 

processes in place to assure itself of the quality of data used to ensure it is acceptable and 

improvement plans are in place where needed.  

 

Business Critical Models 

The CCG can confirm that an appropriate framework and environment is in place to provide 

quality assurance of business critical models, in line with the recommendations in the 

Macpherson report. 

 

Through the CCG’s Business Continuity Plans and processes it can confirm that all business 

critical models have been identified and that information about quality assurance processes 

for those models has been provided to the Analytical Oversight Committee, chaired by the 

Chief Analyst in the Department of Health. 

 

Business Continuity Plans were reviewed and updated in March 2015 by the Clinical 

Executive.  

 

Data Security 

We have submitted a satisfactory level of compliance with the information governance toolkit 

assessment. There have been no Serious Untoward Incidents relating to data security 

breaches reported to the Information Commissioner.   

 

Discharge of Statutory Functions 

During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained within its 

Constitution and supporting Governance Frameworks were developed with the benefit of 

external legal and governance input, to ensure compliance with all relevant legislation.  That 

advice also informed the matters reserved for our membership, the Governing body decision 

and our scheme of delegation.  

 

In light of the Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers 

conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated 

legislative and regulations.  As a result, I can confirm that the CCG is clear about the 

legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is 

responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions. Our arrangements 

for these are also set out within our Constitution.  
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Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a member of the 

Clinical Executive and reviews of our operating model have confirmed that the CCG’s 

organisational structures provide the necessary capability and capacity to undertake all of 

the CCG’s statutory duties. 

 

Conclusion 

I conclude that one significant internal control risk was identified during the year regarding 
the Information Governance Toolkit, where specific recommendations were made by Internal 
Audit.  All of those recommendations were implemented to the satisfaction of the Audit 
Committee.  No other significant internal control risks were identified during the year. 
 

Dr Jim Hogan 

Clinical Leader and Chief Clinical Officer 

25th May 2016 
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SECTION C: REMUNERATION REPORT 
 

4.18  

Remuneration Committee Report 
During 2015/16 membership of the Remuneration Committee consisted of: 

 

 Andy Silvester, lay member and Chair of the Remuneration Committee  

 Tom Morton, lay member  

 Jackie Powell, lay member  

 Dr Tahwinder Upile (secondary care doctor on the Governing Body); 

 Dr Tim Wilkinson (Clinical Executive and Chair of the Governing Body). 
 

There were two meetings held during the course of the year. Andy Silvester, Jackie Powell, 

Tom Morton and Tahwinder Upile attended both meetings and Dr Tim Wilkinson attended 

one of the two meetings. 

 

In addition to members of the Governing Body, the Committee notably received support 

during the course of the year from the CCG’s Human Resources support provider 

(Portsmouth City Council) for which the CCG had a contract for services in place. The Chief 

Clinical Officer, Chief Finance Officer, Chief Operating Officer, and Chief Strategic Officer 

were also variously in attendance at meetings to answer specific questions of the 

Committee. The Committee was satisfied that the advice received was objective and 

independent. 

 

4.19  

Remuneration of senior managers (Remuneration Policy) 
We have adopted Agenda for Change terms and conditions for all our staff including senior 

managers and Governing Board members. Spot salaries for senior managers have been 

established by the Remuneration Committee in line with NHS England guidance published in 

2012 (‘Clinical Commissioning Groups: Remuneration for Chief Officers and Chief Finance 

Officers’.)  We intend to continue this approach for the foreseeable future. Remuneration 

awarded to Governing Board members as the senior managers of the organisation are set 

out in section 4.21. 

 
We do not currently operate performance related pay.  
 
4.20  

Senior managers’ contracts 
A summary of duration of contracts, and notice periods is contained within the following 

table. Contract terms and conditions are generally based upon Agenda for Change. In line 

with UK Corporate Governance Code, the majority of Governing Board members are 

appointed for a fixed term and subject to re-appointment/re-election. The duration of 

contracts has been agreed with member practices as part of the agreement of our 

Constitution. Contracts do not provide for early termination but do provide for either party to 

give and receive paid notice for early termination. 
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Summary of contract and notice periods for Senior Managers 
 
Name Role CCG Start Date Unexpired term Notice Period 

Dr Jim Hogan Clinical Leader & Chief Clinical Officer 1 April 2013 Substantive appointment as Chief Clinical Officer 
31 March 2019* as Clinical Executive & therefore Clinical 
Leader 

3 months 

Dr Tim Wilkinson Clinical Executive & Chair of Governing 
Board 

1 April 2013 31 March 2016 3 months 

Dr Dapo Alalade Clinical Executive 1 April 2013 31 March 2018 3 months 

Dr Linda Collie Clinical Executive 1 April 2013 31 March 2019* 3 months 

Paul Cox Practice Manager Representative 1 April 2013 31 March 2018 3 months 

Dr Julie Cullen Registered Nurse 1 April 2013 31 March 2019** 3 months 

Dr Elizabeth Fellows Clinical Executive 1 April 2013 31 March 2019** 3 months 

Tom Morton Lay member 1 April 2013 31 March 2019** 3 months 

Jackie Powell Lay member 1 April 2013 31 March 2019** 3 months 

Innes Richens Chief Operating Officer 1 April 2013 Substantive 12 weeks 

Tracy Sanders Chief Strategic Officer 1 September 2013 Substantive 4 weeks 

Andy Silvester Lay member   
 

1 February 2014 31 August 2017 3 months 

Michelle Spandley Chief Finance Officer  1 April 2013 Substantive 12 weeks 

Dr Tahwinder Upile Secondary Care Doctor 1 April 2013 31 March 2019** 3 months 

 
 
* Dr Jim Hogan and Dr Linda Collie have been re-elected for a further three year term up to 31 March 2019 

** contracts for lay representatives were extended for a further three year period via recommendation from the Chair and support from the Remuneration Committee in line with 

the CCGs Standing Orders 

 
There have been no payments made to past senior managers of the CCG. 
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4.21  

Salaries and allowances  (*increased hours from 1
st

 February 2016)  

 

Name and title 
 
 
 
 
 

Salary & Fees 
(Bands of 
£5,000) 
 
 
 

£000 

Taxable Benefits  
(Rounded to the 
nearest £100) 
 
 
 

£00 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses (bands 
of £5,000) 
 

£000 

Long-term 
Performance 
pay and bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 
 

£000 

All Pension 
Related 
Benefits (bands 
of £2,500) 
 
 

£000 

Total (bands of 
£5,000) 
 
 
 
 

£000 

Dr Jim Hogan -  Clinical Leader & Chief Clinical Officer 75-80 
                                  

-    
                                  

-    
                                  

-    0 75-80 

Innes Richens - Chief Operating Officer 105-110 
                                  

-    
                                  

-    
                                  

-    32.5-35 140-145 

Michelle Spandley - Chief Finance Officer 105-110  -  -  - 125-127.5 235-240 

Tracy Sanders – Chief Strategic Officer 75-80 - - - 0 75-80 

Dr Linda Collie - Clinical Executive* 30-35 
                                  

-    
                                  

-    
                                  

-    50-52.5 80-85 

Dr Elizabeth Fellows - Clinical Executive* 30-35 
                                  

-    
                                  

-    
                                  

-    7.5-10 40-45 

Dr Dapo Alalade - Clinical Executive 25-30 
                                  

-    
                                  

-    
                                  

-    0 25-30 

Jackie Powell - Lay Member 10-15 - 
                                  

-    
                                  

-    0 10-15 

Tom Morton - Lay Member 10-15 - 
                                  

-    
                                  

-    0 10-15 

Andy Silvester - Lay Member  10-15 
                                  

-    
                                  

-    
                                  

-    0 10-15 

Dr Tahwinder Upile - Secondary Care Doctor 5-10 
                                  

-    
                                  

-    
                                  

-    0 5-10 

Paul Cox - Practice Manager Representative  5-10 
                                  

-    
                                  

-    
                                  

-    0 5-10 

Dr Julie Cullen - Registered Nurse  15-20 
                                  

-    
                                  

-    
                                  

-    0 15-20 

Dr Tim Wilkinson - Clinical Executive & Chair of Governing Board 70-75 
                                  

-    
                                  

-    
                                  

-    0 70-75 
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Taxable benefits disclosed relate to home to base travel reimbursements made available to Lay Members and the Secondary Care Representative of the Governing Body. 

 

The Pension Related Benefits values comprise all pension related benefits and have been calculated based on data supplied from the NHS Pensions Agency and in 

accordance with the advised ‘HMRC’ method, as follows: 

Increase = ((20 x PE) + LSE) – ((20 x PB) +LSB) 

Where:  

 PE is the annual rate of pension payable if the officer became entitled to it at the end of the financial year; 

 PB is the annual rate of pension, adjusted for inflation, if the officer became entitled to it at the beginning of the year; 

 LSE is the amount of lump sum that would be payable if the officer became entitled to it at the end of the financial year; 

 LSB is the amount of lump sum that would be payable if the officer became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year; 

 20 is the standard valuation factor as determined by legislation to calculate the capital value of pensions benefit. 

 

These are not indicative of the actual in-year benefit derived from CCG employment, and will reflect benefit accrued from other NHS employment. 

 

The total represented here may include pension related benefits for previously accrued NHS pension membership (as notified by NHS Pensions Agency), not solely the benefit 

arising from CCG employment. 

 

4.22  

Compensation/payments for loss of office 
There have been no payments in the current or previous financial year for loss of office.  
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4.23  

Pensions benefits 

 

Name and Title  (a)   (b)   (c)   (d)   (e)   (f)   (g)   (h)  

Real increase 
in pension at 
pension age 
(bands of 
£2,500)  

Real increase 
in pension 
lump sum at 
pension age  
(bands of 
£2,500) 

Total accrued 
pension at 
pension age at 
31 March 2016 
(bands of 
£5,000)  

Lump sum at 
pension age 
related to 
accrued pension 
at 31 March 2016 
(bands of £5,000)  

Cash Equivalent 
Transfer Value 
at 1 April 2015  

Real increase in 
Cash Equivalent 
Transfer Value  

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 31 
March 2016  

Employer’s 
contribution to 
stakeholder 
pension  

Innes Richens - Chief 
Operating Officer * 

0-2.5                   (0-2.5)              25-30           75-80  409,900 16,986 431,806  N/A  

Michelle Spandley - 
Chief Finance Officer 

5.0-5.5 15-17.5 45-50 125-130 664,383 107,246 779,602  N/A  

Dr Linda Collie - Clinical 
Executive * 

2.5-5.0 (0-2.5)              10-15           35-40  151,801 18,513 172,136  N/A  

Dr Elizabeth Fellows - 
Clinical Executive 

0-2.5 0-2.5                0-5             0-5  20,106 6,844 27,192  N/A  

 
*transferred from the 1995 NHS Pension Scheme into the 2015 Pension scheme 

 
Note:  

1)The table provides pensions benefits information for Governing Board members only where the CCG makes contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme. The CCG does not 

make contributions to partnership pension schemes. The pensions benefit information has been provided by the NHS Pensions Agency for ‘Officer’ employment only, as 

recorded by the NHS Pensions Agency. ‘Practitioner’ employment has been excluded. If a member has previous accrued ‘Officer’ status with NHS Pension Agency this will be 

reflected in the real increase in cash equivalent value.   

2) The CETV factors used by the NHS Pensions Agency are effective as at 15 March 2016 rather than 31 March 2016. 
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Cash Equivalent Transfer Values 

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the 

pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits 

valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable 

beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme.  CETVs are calculated in accordance with 

the Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer Values) Regulations 2008. 

 

Real Increase in CETV 

This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the 

increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including 

the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement), and uses 

common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period. 

 

4.24  

Pay multiples 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the 

highest-paid director/member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the 

organisation’s workforce. 

 

The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member in the CCG in the financial 

year 2015/16 was £140,000-£145,000 (2014/15 £140,000-£145,000). This was 4.1 (2014/15 

4.1) times the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £30,000-£35,000 (2014/15 

£30,000-£35,000). 

 

No employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid director/member during 

either 2015/16 or 2014/15. 

 

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-

kind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and 

the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 
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4.25  

Staff report: composition of our workforce 
Our total employed workforce, by pay band comprises the following: 

  

Pay Band Headcount 

Band 3 4 

Band 4 2 

Band 5 20 

Band 6 2 

Band 7 13 

Band 8A 12 

Band 8B 9 

Band 8C 3 

Band 8D 5 

Band 9 1 

Board Members/GPs/Lay Members Spot 

Pay Rates 

13 

Total 84 

 

It should be noted that this relates to those staff only on the CCG’s payroll, and is calculated 

based on headcount not Full Time Equivalent (FTE).  It does not include staff on inward or 

outward secondment, or recharges from or to other organisations under hosting 

arrangements.  The CCG’s average FTE for 2015/16 (as per note 4.2 in the Annual 

Accounts) equates to 90 FTE. 

 

4.26  

Our workforce: equality and diversity 
As at 31st March 2016 our Governing Board (the senior managers of the CCG) compromised 

of eight voting members who were male, and five voting members who were female. All 

Governing Board members are paid local spot rates (the CCG’s VSM equivalent) as 

determined by our Remuneration Committee.  

 

There is one other individual paid on local senior manager spot rate as agreed by the 

Remuneration Committee and she is female.  

 

Our total workforce (excluding those seconded out and those referenced above) of 71 

people comprised 18 males and 53 females  

 

We are committed to working in line with current employment legislation, including the 

Equality Act 2010. This means we aim to provide a working environment free from 

discrimination, victimisation, and harassment, whether on an individual or institutional basis 

on the grounds of age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnerships, 

pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex (gender), sexual orientation, or any 

other grounds that infringe on Human Rights. 
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We also aim to recruit a representative workforce from all sections of the community in order 

to commission healthcare services that respect and respond to the diverse needs of the 

people of Portsmouth. Our responsibilities and commitments as an employer are set out in 

our Human Resources Framework. Our Framework is underpinned by a range of policies 

which seek to ensure equality and diversity within the workforce and appropriate 

arrangements to support all individuals.  

 

4.27  

Managing sickness 
We are committed to the health and wellbeing of our staff and we have HR policies and 

procedures in place to support staff and managers. 

 

The average staff sickness level for the year was 1.5%, an improvement on last year’s 

average which was 2%.  

 

We have a sickness absence management policy to ensure the equitable, fair and sensitive 

management of employees who are unable to fulfil their contractual duties due to ill health or 

disability.  

 

The majority of sickness absence was short term in nature. Where there is long term staff 

sickness, we have a policy to work proactively to support staff in their return to work. This 

can involve the support of occupational health services, employee assistance programmes 

and the consideration of flexible working arrangements in accordance with CCG HR policies.  

 

Note 4.3 in the Financial Statements sets out details of staff sickness absence for the year. 

 

4.28  

Consultancy expenditure 
The CCG incurred costs of £133,000 during 2015/16 on consultancy.  This primarily 

comprised work around improving and delivering better value patient pathways and 

outcomes. 
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4.29  

Off payroll engagements 
For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2016, for more than £220 per day and that last longer 

than six months:   

 Number 

Number of  existing engagements 8 

 
Of which, the number that have existed: 

  

• For less than one year at the time of reporting 2 

• For between one and two years at the time of reporting 0 

• For between two and three years at the time of reporting 6 

• For between three and four years at the time of reporting 0 

• For four or more years at the time of reporting 0 

    

All existing off-payroll engagements, outlined above, have at some point been subject to a risk 
assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is paying the right amount of 
tax and, where necessary that assurance has been sought.  

  

 
  

For all new off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016, for more than 
£220 per day and that last longer than six months: 

  
 

  Number 

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between 1 2 

April 2015  and 31 March 2016   

Number of new engagements which include contractual clauses giving the clinical commissioning   

group the right to request assurance in relation to Income Tax and National Insurance 2  

Obligations   

 
  

 

Of which   

• assurance has been received 0 

• assurance has not been received 0 

• engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being received 0 

For any off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or, senior officials with significant 
financial responsibility, between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016 
 

  

  Number 

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officers with significant 
financial responsibility, during the year 

3 

  
  Number of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that that have been deemed “ board members, 
and/or senior officials with significant financial responsibility” during the year (this figure includes 
both on-payroll and off-payroll engagements) 

14 
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4.30                               

Exit packages, including special (non-contractual payments)   
There have been no payments made to senior managers in respect of exit packages 

including special payments within the financial year.  One member of staff received payment 

in lieu of notice in accordance with their Agenda for Change terms and conditions, this is 

disclosed in note 4 to the accounts. 

 

4.31                               

Audit of Accountability Report 
Audit Of Accountability Report – ‘Auditors will review the accountability report for consistency 

with other information in the financial statements and will provide an opinion on the following 

disclosures that have been made: 

 Single total figure of remuneration for each director; 

 CETV disclosures for each director; 

 Payments to past directors, if relevant; 

 Payments for loss of office, if relevant; 

 “Fair pay” (pay multiples) disclosures; 

 Exit packages, if relevant, and; 

 Analysis of staff numbers. 

 

 

Dr Jim Hogan 

Clinical Leader and Chief Clinical Officer 

25th May 2016 
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5 
Getting the best from the Portsmouth pound 

FINANCE REPORT 

5.1  

Overall summary of the financial position 
We met our financial and administrative duties in 2015/16. The full results are set out later in 

this document in the CCGs Annual Accounts and notes to the accounts. The key results are: 

 a revenue surplus of £3.1m against a resource limit of £296.4m (including running 

costs allowance); 

 the cash balance at year end was £14k which was within the target set by NHS 

England; 

 A capital spend of £201k against an allocation limit of £210k 

 

Commissioning Spend 2015/16  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

£136m 
46% 

£36m 
12% 

£16m 
5% 

£15m 
5% 

£28m 
10% 

£5m 
2% 

£32m 
11% 

£26m 
9% 

Acute

Primary Care

Continuing Healthcare

Social Care & Voluntry

Community Health

Running Costs

Mental Health

Co-Comissioning
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Spend per head of population 2015/2016  
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5.2  

Finance report 
We have continued our strong financial track record in meeting our financial duties for the 

third year running. 

 

We were required to set our 2015/16 Financial Plan in accordance with the planning rules 

and requirements laid down by NHS England which included achieving a surplus slightly in 

excess of the normal 1% (£3.1m, which equates to 1.1%), to mirror the surplus delivered in 

2014/15.  We received our allocation of £296.4m, spending £293.4m to deliver the surplus 

target of £3.1m.  The charts show how we spent these funds across the various 

commissioning areas, together with a breakdown of the amount spent per head of 

population. 

 

One of the continuing challenges and a cause of uncertainty for us during the year has been 

in determining the liability relating to local NHS estate costs.  A significant piece of work was 

undertaken during 2014/15, and debate continued during 2015/16, with a financial 

settlement finally being agreed between the CCG and NHS Property Services during the 

latter part of 2015/16. 

 

Additional challenges have included the financial sustainability of our local health and social 

care system, together with the pressures we’ve seen as a system in achieving national 

targets in emergency care, with increased activity in secondary care, creating additional 

pressures and costs to the system.  We have worked in collaboration with Adult Social Care 

to ensure that proposed budgetary reductions within the Local Authority do not have a 

detrimental impact on the provision of healthcare during this financial year. 

  

We set aside a contingency to manage any risks around expenditure, particularly in relation 

to Estates and potential over-performance on any contracts. Despite the risks, expenditure 

was managed, and we were able to create new investment to support the continued 

improvement in health services to the people of Portsmouth. 

  

We invested in additional community and primary care services, particularly over the winter 

period to meet increasing demand for these services, and to reduce demand on our local 

hospital.  We invested in a number of other areas, such as a contribution towards the 

provision of upgraded and improved patient accommodation at the Rowan’s Hospice; 

wheelchair services; Better Care Fund, and in schemes within the voluntary care sector.  All 

of these investments make a significant contribution to our health strategy. 

 

We saw the delegation of Primary Care Medical Services from NHS England from the 1st 

April 2015, bringing with it the associated budgets which increased the CCGs allocation by 

circa £26m.  

 

5.3  

Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) 
The NHS as a whole has to improve efficiency to offset the rising cost of healthcare from 

new technologies, population growth, inflation and other pressures.  
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A national programme is now well established to release savings by improving quality, 

driving innovation in healthcare, improving productivity and preventing ill-health.  

 

As a consequence, we needed to deliver savings of £6.8m during the year in order to 

achieve the year-end surplus.  These efficiencies were achieved through a range of 

measures, such as reviewing pathways to ensure cost effective commissioning, 

commissioning more cost effective services, such as continuing healthcare, targeting 

effective primary care prescribing, and through putting in place services to provide care 

closer to home rather than in a hospital setting.  

 

5.4  

Running costs 
Each CCG is set a limit on how much it can spend on its administrative costs. For our CCG, 

this was £4.7m, equating to £21.72 per head of population in Portsmouth. 

 

5.5  

Cash 
NHS England set a cash target for each CCG, insofar as cashbook balances held should not 

exceed 1.25% of the CGs cash drawdown for March 2016.  Our target equated to a 

maximum cashbook balance of £262k, our actual cashbook balance was £14k. 

5.6  

Capital 
To facilitate the reconfiguration and sale of the St James Hospital site, we relocated offices 

during the latter part of the financial year, to co-locate with partners at the Civic Offices, 

Guildhall Square, Portsmouth.  As a result, a small amount of capital expenditure (£201k) 

was incurred to refurbish and alter the layout of the office space. 

 

5.7  

Five year financial planning 
NHS England issued CCG allocations in January 2016, which outlined growth for 2016/17 of 

3.05%, this is the minimum level of growth that CCGs can receive for 2016/17.  Future 

growth allocations are 2% (2017/18 – 2018/19), 2.1% 2019/20, and 3.7% for 2020/21. 

The per capita allocation for 2016/17 is £1,195 (compared to £1,152 in 2015/16). 

The Better Care Fund, which operates under a Section 75 agreement with Portsmouth City 

Council, incorporates a pool of resources (amounting to £16m) comprising funds from both 

health and social care to be spent jointly with the City Council for the benefit of the 

population of Portsmouth. 

Our financial plans incorporate the planning requirements and rules from NHS England’s 

planning framework ‘Everyone Counts: Planning for Patients 2014/15 – 2018/19’ together 

with “The Forward View Into Action: Planning for 2015/16” and “Delivering the Forward View: 

NHS Planning Guidance 2016/17 – 2020/21”. 



71 
 

The planning requirements are that CCGs should apply certain business rules including to 

plan for a surplus each year and set aside a proportion of their funds to spend non-

recurrently on system sustainability and transformation. We have reflected these 

requirements in our financial plans for 2016/17 to 2020/21 together with the efficiencies 

required to maintain financial resilience and meet the required targets. 

Set against the backdrop of a continued challenging financial environment, despite the NHS 

receiving growth funding, we will be required to find further financial efficiency savings, as 

part of the QIPP programme to meet the rising costs of healthcare and support the Better 

Care Fund. The financial plan estimates the required savings for 2016/17 at £9.3m. We must 

achieve this level of savings to maintain our future financial stability. 

The wider local health and social care system is also facing financial pressure and 

collectively there is a need to work together in developing a Sustainability and 

Transformation Plan to maximise the best use of our limited resources and ensure financial 

and service sustainability. 

 

 

 

Michelle Spandley 

Chief Finance Officer  

25th May 2016  
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6 
Audit opinion 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING BODY 

OF NHS PORTSMOUTH CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP 

 

We have audited the financial statements of NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group 

for the year ended 31 March 2016 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. The 

financial statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the 

Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the 

Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes 1 to 43. The financial reporting framework 

that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted and 

adapted by the 2015-16 Government Financial Reporting Manual (the 2015-16 FReM) as 

contained in the Department of Health Group Manual for Accounts 2015-16 and the 

Accounts Direction issued by the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of the 

Secretary of State as relevant to the National Health Service in England (the Accounts 

Direction). 

 

We have also audited the information in the Remuneration and Staff Report that is subject to 

audit, being:  

 

 the table of salaries and allowances of senior managers and related narrative 

notes on pages 59 - 60; 

 the table of pension benefits of senior managers and related narrative notes on 

pages 61 - 62;  

 the exit packages disclosure on page 66; 

 the analysis of staff numbers and related notes on page 63; and 

 the pay multiples disclosure on page 62. 

This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of NHS Portsmouth 

Clinical Commissioning Group in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 and for no other purpose as set out in paragraph 43 of the 

Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector 

Audit Appointments Limited.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to 

the members of the Governing Body of the CCG those matters we are required to state to 

them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, 

we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the members as a body, for 

our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 
Respective responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and auditor 

 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities set out on 

page 40, the Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial 

statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and is also responsible 
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for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income. Our responsibility is to audit and 

express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 

International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply 

with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.  We are also responsible 

for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in accordance with the 

Code of Audit Practice prepared by the Comptroller and Auditor General as required by the 

Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the "Code of Audit Practice"). 

 

As explained in the Annual Governance Statement the Accountable officer is responsible for 

the arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the CCG's 

resources. We are required under Section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 

2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. Section 21(5)(b) of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 requires that our report must not contain our opinion if we are 

satisfied that proper arrangements are in place. 

 

We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are 

operating effectively. 

 
 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 

 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free 

from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment 

of:  

 

 whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG’s circumstances and 

have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed;  

 the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Accountable 

Officer; and  

 the overall presentation of the financial statements.  

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report and 

accounts to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to 

identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially 

inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we 

become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the 

implications for our report. 

 

In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that 

the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the 

purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities 

which govern them. 

 

Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in the use of resources 
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We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having 

regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor 

General in November 2015, as to whether the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it 

took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and 

sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General 

determined this criterion as that necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit 

Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper arrangements for 

securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 

March 2016. 

 

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice.  Based on our risk 

assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on 

whether, in all significant respects, the CCG had put in place proper arrangements to secure 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

 

Opinion on regularity 

 

In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in the financial 

statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial 

transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.  

 

 

Opinion on the financial statements 

 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

 

 give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS Portsmouth Clinical 

Commissioning Group as at 31 March 2016 and of its net operating costs for the year 

then ended; and 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 

2012 and the Accounts Directions issued thereunder. 

 
Opinion on other matters 

 

In our opinion: 

 

 the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been properly 

prepared in accordance with the Annual Report Directions made under the National 

Health Service Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012); and 

 the other information published together with the audited financial statements in the 

annual report and accounts is consistent with the financial statements. 

 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

 

We are required to report to you if: 

 in our opinion the governance statement does not comply with the guidance issued 

by the NHS Commissioning Board; or 
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 we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an 

officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or 

would involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has 

begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion , would be 

unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or 

 we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014; or 

 we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of the Local Audit 

and Accountability Act 2014; or 

 we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 

March 2016. 

 
We have nothing to report in these respects. 
 

 
Certificate 

 

We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Portsmouth Clinical 

Commissioning Group in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice. 

 

 

Kate Handy 

for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP 

Southampton 

26 May 2016 
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7 
Annual Accounts 

Full accounts now follow – and these have been prepared under a Direction issued by the 

NHS Commissioning Board under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) 

 

Dr Jim Hogan 

Clinical Leader and Chief Clinical Officer 

25th May 2016 
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Glossary 
 
Some of the terms used in this report may be ones that you are not familiar with. This guide 
may help… 

 
A&E Accident and Emergency Department, often 

referred to now as the Emergency Department or 
ED 

A&E Four Hour Target A nationally set target requiring 95% patients 
attending an A&E department to be seen, 
treated, admitted or discharged in under four 
hours. 

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 

COMPACT This is the term that refers to three CCGs in the 
South East Hampshire working collectively 
together. The COMPACT is a formal agreement 
signed by all three. 

COPD Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 

CQUIN Commissioning for Quality and Innovation 
Payment – allows commissioners to reward 
excellence, by linking a proportion healthcare 
providers' income to the achievement of local 
quality improvement goals. 

ED Emergency Department (see A&E above) 

EPRR Emergency Preparedness, Resilience 
and Response – how we plan to respond to major 
incidents or intense pressure on services 

Equality delivery system Linked to the Public Sector Equality Duty, this is a 
tool that helps local NHS organisations review 
and improve their performance for people with 
characteristics protected by the Equality Act 
2010. 

Governing Board/Governing Body All CCGs are required to have a Governing Body 
and locally we refer to ours as a Governing Board. 

GBAF Governing Body Assurance Framework 

GP General Practitioner 

Health and Wellbeing Board A forum where key leaders from the health and 
care system work together to improve the health 
and wellbeing of their local population and 
reduce health inequalities. 
 

HCAI/CDIFF Health Care Acquired Infection (one such 
example is CDIFF or clostridium difficile) 

IT/ICT Information technology/Information 
Communications Technology. However ICT can 
also refer to our Integrated Commissioning Team 
which is developing closer working links between 
health and local authority commissioners. 

NHS Five Year Forward View The NHS Five Year Forward View, published in 
October 2014, sets out a vision for the future of 
the NHS. It articulates why change is needed, and 
how we can achieve it, defining the actions 
required at local and national level to support 
delivery. 

NHS South, Central and West Commissioning The body that provides a range of support 
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Support Unit (CSU) services to CCGs in the Hampshire area, including 
Portsmouth 

Public Sector Equality Duty The duty came into force in April 2011 and covers 
age, disability, gender, gender reassignment, 
pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief 
and sexual orientation. In summary, those 
subject to the general equality duty must have 
due regard to the need to: 

- Eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation 

- Advance equality of opportunity 
between different groups 

- Foster good relations between different 
groups 

 

QIPP The Quality, Innovation, Productivity and 
Prevention (QIPP) programme drives forward 
quality improvements in NHS care, at the same 
time as ensuring efficiency savings. 

RTT Referral to treatment – a nationally set target. 
The Referral to Treatment (RTT) operational 
standards are that 90 per cent of admitted and 
95 percent of non-admitted patients should start 
consultant-led treatment within 18 weeks of 
referral 

Section 75 agreement An agreement made under section 75 of National 
Health Services Act 2006 between a local 
authority and an NHS body in England. Section 75 
agreements can include arrangements for 
pooling resources and delegating certain NHS and 
local authority health-related functions to the 
other partner(s) if it would lead to an 
improvement in the way those functions are 
exercised. 

SIRI Serious incident requiring investigation 

TARGET Local training sessions for GPs. 
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If you would like to get in touch… 
 
We value your views on your local NHS. We particularly welcome comments about all 

patient services, as these help us to monitor the quality of the services we commission and 

to make improvements. 

 

We would also be interested in your views on this annual report so we can improve it next 

time. You can also request this annual report in the following versions: 

 

Translated 

Large print 

Braille 

Audio 

 
You can contact us through our website 

www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk 

or by emailing us at 

enquiries@portsmouthccg.nhs.uk 

You can also follow us on Twitter 

@nhsportsmouthccg 

 

If you are interested in getting involved in helping us plan, develop and deliver NHS services 

in the Portsmouth area why not join our online Healthy Discussions group or join a Patient 

Participation group through your GP surgery. Details are on our website. 

 
NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group 
CCG Headquarters, 4th Floor, 1 Guildhall Square, Portsmouth, PO1 2GJ 
 


